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Welcome to the 2013-14  
Annual Report and Accounts
It is a privilege and pleasure to present my 
fifth report, which I believe describes one 
of the most eventful and successful years 
in the Agency’s history.

This document is essentially in three parts:

Part 1: The Year in Summary provides an     
“at a glance” picture of our performance and 
activities in three pages. It portrays a year of 
continuous improvement with most targets 
being met and recovery of our costs. 

Part 2: Management Commentary provides 
more detail. The Organisation and Strategy 
section describes who we are, our vision, 
mission, values, what we do and how we fit 
with the Scottish Government’s purpose.     
The Management Commentary also contains 
a Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and 
Remuneration Report as required by the 
2013-14 Government Financial Reporting 
Manual. The Strategic Report provides a 
compelling narrative of our progress towards 
a Financial Health Service, a review of our 
performance and an assessment of the 
Agency’s future prospects.

Part 3: Statements, Audit Report and 
Accounts contains the statutory and financial 
statements required by our governance 
and accountability framework. All have 
been signed off by our external auditors as 
providing a true and fair view. 

As always, I pay tribute to the dedication of 
AiB staff – past and present – who worked 
tirelessly with our stakeholders’ support to 
make this report such positive reading.

I commend the report to you and welcome 
your comments (see the Annual Report 
feedback form on www.aib.gov.uk).

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
The Accountant in Bankruptcy and  
Agency Chief Executive
5 August 2014

Foreword by The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
and Agency Chief Executive 

http://www.aib.gov.uk/about/surveys-consultations/surveys-consultations
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Performance 

Impact Target met? Trend v last year

Legislation passed to deliver Financial Health 
Service

% of cases where a dividend is returned to 
creditors
Levels of carbon emissions

Efficiency

Costs recovered from fees

Efficiency savings (3%) delivered

Unit cost of sequestration 

Unit cost of DAS/DPP

% of invoices paid within target timescale

Customer Service

% of complaints responded to  
within target timescale

Average time taken to notify  
debtors of bankruptcy awards

Average time taken to inform  
debtors of DAS applications

Average time taken to  
determine accounts

People

Retained Gold Investor In  
People accreditation

% of staff positively engaged

Levels of sickness absence

n/a

n/a

Part 1: The Year in Summary
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Activities

The total number 
of bankruptcies  
awarded  
reduced by 20%

22%Debtor 
applications 
to AiB also 
dropped by

The number of bankruptcies 
discharged decreased by

8%
For bankruptcies 

concluded,

52%
of dividends were paid at 
less than 25 pence in the 

pound

The number of protected
trust deeds (PTDs) registered 

decreased by

18%

£25M
PTDs concluded, where a 
dividend was payable, resulted 
in just under

paid to creditors

The average 
dividend 
payable in PTDs 
concluded
increased 
slightly to  
20 pence in the 
pound

The average 
administration cost 
of a PTD where no 

dividend was paid to 
creditors increased 

by 2 per cent to

£3,194

1% The number of 
approved DPPs under 
DAS saw a slight 
decrease

517
A total of 

were completed which is 
more than a three-fold 

increase from the previous 
year

DAS cases £30M
A total of 

was repaid to creditors 
through DAS

The average 
administration cost 

of a PTD where a 
dividend was paid to 
creditors increased 

by 16 per cent to

£7,269
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Bankruptcies

PTDs

DAS

Volumes – 2006-07 to 2013-14
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Note that in 2008-09 revised legislation was introduced which widened access to bankruptcy and this resulted in 
a significant increase in the number of bankruptcies awarded.

Headline trends
The following chart shows the trend in the number of bankruptcies awarded, protected trust deeds 
(PTDs) registered and debt payment programmes (DPPs) approved under the Debt Arrangement 
Scheme (DAS) for the years 2006-07 to 2013-14:

Volumes – 2006-07 to 2013-14

Year
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This chart shows the trend in the number of receiverships and liquidations recorded for the 
years 2006-07 to 2013-14:
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Organisation and Strategy

Part 2: Management Commentary 

*Charles Keegan was Executive Director of Corporate Services until 13 October 2013. 
Graeme Watson took up this position on 1 January 2014.

AiB Board

Jeremy Brettell

Kate Dunlop

Yvonne MacDermid

Donna 
McKenzie Skene

The Accountant in Bankruptcy/ 
Agency Chief Executive

Rosemary Winter-Scott 

Bankruptcy Accounts 
& 

Trustee Supervision

Case Management

Contract Operations

Debt Arrangement 
Scheme

Insolvency 
Registrations

Protected Trust Deeds

Efficiences &  
Technology

Corporate  
Governance

Finance

Organisational Devel-
opment

Communications

Procurement

Facilities  
Management

Operational Policy 
& Compliance

Financial Health 
Service Policy

Strategic Reform

Executive Director of  
Case Operations

John Cook

N
on-Executive B

oard M
em

bers
Executive Directors

Executive Director of 
Corporate Services

Graeme Watson*

Executive Director of 
Policy & Compliance

Claire Orr
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Who we are

Accountant in Bankruptcy (AIB) is an 
Executive Agency of the Scottish Government 
under the terms of the Scotland Act 1998.          
The Agency operates independently 
and impartially while remaining directly 
accountable to Scottish Ministers. The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy (The Accountant) 
is an Independent Statutory Officer and an 
officer of the court appointed under section 
1 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985, as 
amended.

Our vision

Our vision is of:

A ‘Financial Health Service’, providing 
access to debt advice, debt management and 
debt relief, building the financial capability 
of individuals, and preventing future debt 
problems.

Our mission

Our mission is to:

Ensure access to fair and just processes of 
debt relief and debt management for the 
people of Scotland, which takes account of 
the rights and interests of those involved.

Our values

In all our dealings, we will be:
• independent

• responsive

• accountable 

• transparent

• fair

• open

What we do

Our mission is achieved and defined by our 
statutory functions:

Supporting Ministers to develop and refine 
policy by:

• developing policy for personal 
insolvency and diligence and developing 
arrangements for corporate insolvency in 
Scotland

• developing policy for the Debt 
Arrangement Scheme

• developing debt advice policy

• developing Scotland’s Financial Health 
Service, providing access to sources 
of information and advice on debt and 
borrowing

Supervising the insolvency process by:

• supervising the operation of the 
bankruptcy process including the 
performance of trustees and commissioners 
in the exercise of their statutory duty

• regulating and supervising the registration 
and administration of trust deeds, 
including the performance of trustees

• investigating and applying for Bankruptcy 
Restrictions Orders (BROs) or agreeing 
Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings 
(BRUs)

• registering company insolvency documents 
required to be filed by receivers and 
liquidators in terms of the Insolvency Act 
1986
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Providing statutory information on our 
public registers by:

• maintaining a public Register of 
Insolvencies (ROI), which records 
bankruptcies awarded by the Scottish 
Courts or by the Agency. The ROI also 
provides information on protected trust 
deeds (PTDs), BROs, BRUs and corporate 
insolvencies

• maintaining the DAS register, which 
records details of individuals who are 
repaying their debt through a DAS Debt 
Payment Programme (DPP) or have 
intimated an intention to submit a DAS 
application

Delivering, with stakeholders, a range of 
options for individuals seeking debt relief 
and debt management by:

• determining debtor applications for 
bankruptcy

• acting as trustee in all bankruptcies 
awarded by the Agency, where the debtor 
has not requested a named person to be 
the trustee

• acting as trustee in all bankruptcies 
awarded by the Sheriff Courts, where a 
sheriff does not appoint a named person to 
be trustee

• Acting as interim trustee before the award 
of bankruptcy except in those cases where 
an alternative interim trustee is appointed 
when nominated by the petitioning creditor

• acting as trustee as appointed by the 
sheriff on the resignation or death of the 
original trustee where no new trustee is 
elected

• undertaking the functions of the 
commissioners in bankruptcies where 
none are elected by creditors

• adjudicating DAS DPP applications and 
approving DAS money advisers when 
required

Achieving best value services for customers 
by:

• reducing the requirement for public 
funding 

• maximising the return to creditors

• embedding efficient systems and 
processes

How we contribute to the Scottish 
Government’s purpose
The Scottish Government’s purpose is to 
focus government and public services on 
creating a more successful country with 
opportunities for all of Scotland to flourish, 
through increasing sustainable economic 
growth.

The government’s purpose is delivered 
through seven Purpose Targets, supported 
by five Strategic Objectives with 16 National 
Outcomes as the clear and consistent set 
of priorities across government and its 
agencies. Together with 50 National 
Indicators and targets, activity and 
contributions are directed towards the 
single overarching purpose. The National 
Performance Framework demonstrates the 
Scottish Government’s route to achievement 
of its purpose.

The work completed by AiB contributes to the 
following outcomes:

• we live in a Scotland that is the most 
attractive place for doing business in 
Europe (Outcome 1)

• we realise our full economic potential with 
more and better employment opportunities 
for our people (Outcome 2)

• we have tackled the significant inequalities 
in Scottish society (Outcome 7)

• we have strong, resilient and supportive 
communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and 
how they affect others (Outcome 11)

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/Performance/scotPerforms/NPFChanges
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/Performance/scotPerforms/NPFChanges
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• we reduce the local and global 
environmental impact of our consumption 
and production (Outcome 14)

• our public services are high-quality, 
continually improving, efficient and 
responsive to local people’s needs 
(Outcome 15)

We align our key functions, corporate plan, 
business plan, branch plans and employee 
objectives to these National Outcomes and 
measure our progress using a number of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

Our history
The history of bankruptcy is enshrined in 
legislation and its administration has been 
closely associated with the courts. The 
Bankruptcy Act 1621 is the earliest recorded 
statute and further enactments followed in 
1696, 1772, 1783, 1856 and 1913.

The Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 
introduced public funding to underwrite the 
process where there were insufficient funds, 
or realisable assets, in a debtor’s estate to 
cover the costs of sequestration.

Legislation in 1993 provided that The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy could be appointed 
as trustee, and in the course of these duties, 
could use her own staff or appoint agents to 
act on her behalf.

Accountant in Bankruptcy (the Agency) was 
established as an Executive Agency on 2 
April 2002. The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
(The Accountant) is also the Agency’s Chief 
Executive appointed by Scottish Ministers.

Under the Debt Arrangement and Attachment 
(Scotland) Act 2002, Scottish Ministers 
delegated to The Accountant the function 
of Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) 
Administrator. DAS became operational in 
November 2004 and a number of changes 
have been made since its inception.

The Bankruptcy and Diligence etc (Scotland) 
Act 2007 amended the 1985 Act by reforming 
and modernising the process of bankruptcy. 
To facilitate this, formal responsibility for 
supporting Scottish Ministers in the 
development of bankruptcy policy transferred 
to The Accountant from the Scottish 
Government Justice Directorate. 

SG
purpose

National
Outcomes

Key functions

AiB corporate plan
AiB business plan

Branch plan

Employee objectives

KPIs

KPIs
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Strategic Report

Strategy and business model
Our strategy is described in detail in the 
previous section: “Organisation and strategy”.

We worked tirelessly during 2013-14 to 
reduce our core costs while striving to deliver 
excellent public services. 

We awarded a major contract for delivery of 
insolvency services to three key suppliers 
which took effect on 1 April 2013. We worked 
closely with the appointed firms to deliver first 
class insolvency services and are on target 
to deliver annual savings in the region of                 
£1 million to the public purse. We also 
continued to enjoy the excellent partnership 
we have with existing suppliers.

We achieved our target business model 
(in accordance with the requirements of 
the Scottish Public Finance Manual) of 
recovering our costs from fees charged. The 
remainder of this Strategic Report describes 
further highlights.

Legislating for a Financial Health Service
The development and delivery of a new 
legislative framework was at the heart of 
AiB’s work in 2013-14. The introduction of 
modernised legislation paves the way to 
provide the people of Scotland with access to 
a Financial Health Service, offering solutions 
to financial worries and building financial 
capability for the future. 

The Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) 
Bill (BADAS) was introduced to the Scottish 
Parliament in June 2013. It was thoroughly 
debated both in Committee and in the Main 
Chamber. AiB and Parliament led extensive 
stakeholder engagement exercises which 
led to a number of amendments to the Bill 
through the Stage 2 and Stage 3 processes. 
BADAS was approved by Parliament in March 
2014 and became an Act of the Scottish 

Parliament after receiving Royal Assent on  
29 April 2014. 

The new Act, among other things, provides 
for compulsory money advice prior to 
entering a statutory debt solution, financial 
education in certain circumstances, a common 
financial tool for assessing surplus income 
available as a contribution to debt, a standard 
minimum contribution period of 48 months 
and a new Minimal Asset Process (MAP) for 
people unable to make a contribution to their 
bankruptcy. Further changes provide AiB with 
the power to make certain decisions previously 
the responsibility of the sheriff court and a 
new review function. The new Act is expected 
to come into force in April 2015. 

In July 2013, amendments were made to 
the DAS to further strengthen the protection 
it offers to those struggling with debt. The 
changes include freezing of interest and 
charges at an earlier stage of the process. 
This change is of particular benefit to people 
who have been affected by high-interest 
credit. 

Significant changes to the law on PTDs 
came into force in November 2013. The 
changes were designed to provide greater 
transparency to creditors on the proposals 
set out in trust deeds and to encourage those 
in debt to access the best debt solutions for 
their circumstances. Changes include a new 
minimum debt level of £5,000, a minimum 
of 48 monthly contributions and a different 
approach to trustees’ fees. 

Accounts
We received another “clean” external audit 
report, providing continuing assurance 
to taxpayers that we used their money 
efficiently and effectively, and accounted for it 
accurately.

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2005/11/28100404/04050
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The accounts were prepared under the 
Accounts Direction by Scottish Ministers 
detailed at Appendix D. They were also 
prepared on a going concern basis, which 
means that the Agency intends to continue 
its business for the foreseeable future and is 
able to do so.

Digital service delivery

ASTRA
We launched ASTRA (AiB Supervision of 
Trust Deeds, Registration and Advertisement 
System) case management system on 
28 November to deliver the 2013 PTD 
regulations. These regulations made a 
number of changes to the administrative 
process, including transfer of responsibility 
for the advertising of trust deeds from the 
Edinburgh Gazette to AiB. This is in line 
with Scottish Government policy for the AiB 
Register of Insolvencies to be the prime 
repository of Scottish insolvency information. 
This transition has benefitted trust deed 
applicants by significantly reducing the cost 
of registration.

Initially, ASTRA functionality was restricted 
to trust deed advertising and registration, 
through a secure web-based hub that 
allows users to input data directly. The new 
functionality has allowed fees for adverts 
submitted electronically to be reduced by 46 
per cent.

We continued to develop ASTRA following 
the initial launch and will have its full 
functionality deployed by autumn 2014, 
including migration of all PTD cases granted 
from 1 April 2008 to the ASTRA system. Part 
of this development will include an interface 
between ASTRA and the external system used 
by the majority of insolvency practitioners. 
This means that insolvency practitioners 
will be able to submit all statutory PTD 
information electronically, realising 
efficiencies for all stakeholders. 

New sequestration case management 
system 
Following a competitive tender exercise, 
Lockheed Martin was awarded the contract 
for the development of AiB’s new case 
management system. The new system will 
deliver the provisions of the Bankruptcy and 
Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 2014. Work to 
identify requirements commenced in the final 
quarter of 2013-14. The new system aims to 
build on the success of ASTRA and will serve 
as an online hub where information can be 
exchanged electronically. The new system 
launch is planned for April 2015. 

Key performance indicators and volumes of 
business
Part 1 of the document provides an “at a 
glance” summary of performance and activity 
levels. It confirms that we delivered on the 
majority of our commitments, including all 
of our customer responsiveness targets, and 
also achieved continuous improvement in 
relation to most of our performance metrics, 
all in the context of significant change for the 
Agency. 

Further details are provided in Appendices A 
and B.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Our key risk management activities during 
the year related to:

• changes to wider Scottish Government, UK 
and EU policy and processes

• policy propositions regarding future 
powers for Scottish Ministers

• responses to policies such as the 
development of a Financial Health Service

• recruitment and retention of staff in key 
posts

• new ICT systems to support the bankruptcy 
legislation
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Further details and a description of our 
risk management framework are set out in 
the Governance Statement at Part 3 of this 
document. 

Our people
Staff are AiB’s most important assets. We 
continued to invest in our staff by offering 
access to work-related professional 
qualifications and by initiating a programme 
to increase engagement levels in response 
to the annual staff survey. Following an 
interim assessment, Investors in People (IiP) 
Scotland confirmed that we had retained the 
Gold IiP Standard that was first awarded in 
2012.

AiB participates in the annual UK Civil 
Service Staff Engagement Survey, which 
measures attitudes and opinions to work. 
The latest survey was conducted in October 
2013 and delivered an engagement index of 
54 per cent from a participation rate of 85 
per cent. This engagement score was four 
percentage points lower than the previous 
year and six percentage points below the 
Scottish Government engagement score. 
We responded by arranging focus groups 
and with their help we have produced an 
Employee Engagement Action Plan 2014-15 
to improve our ratings.

The average number of sick days  
per employee was 7.9 days, a 1.6 per cent 
decrease on the previous year’s figure 
of 8.1 days. This continued a welcome 
downward trend over the last few years. 
The Agency’s senior management team 
closely monitors sickness absence 
levels and regular reminders are issued 
to all staff on the Scottish Government 
attendance management procedures.

Staff turnover (excluding temporary staff) for 
2013-14 was 10.1 per cent. 

22 staff left the Agency during the year. Of 
these:

• 11 moved to other Departments of the 
Scottish Government (six on promotion)

• one resigned

• three left through the Scottish 
Government’s early departure schemes 
(although the departure costs for two were 
charged to 2012-13)

• seven temporary staff left following 
completion of their contracts

The Agency recruited 14 new members of 
staff during the year, including five who 
transferred from other Scottish Government 
Departments. We also had one secondee 
from a Scottish Government Department.
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Headcount Full Time Equivalent

As at 31 March 2014 145 133.4

As at 31 March 2013 154 145.3

As at 31 March 2012 171 162.8

The Agency’s staffing complement over the past three years was:

The gender breakdown of the headcount as at 31 March 2014 was as follows:

Female Male

Chief Executive *1 –

Executive Directors *1 2

Other employees 100 41

Total 102 (70%) 43 (30%)

* Senior Managers as defined in Financial Reporting Manual
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Health, wellbeing and social matters
Our Healthy Working Lives (HWL) Committee, 
chaired by the Executive Director (Policy and 
Compliance), promotes health and wellbeing 
using the framework of the national HWL 
Awards. We maintained our Silver Award 
in 2012 and continued to work towards 
achievement of the Gold Award.

AiB staff continued to organise activities on 
a voluntary basis to support local charities. 
The AiB Community pages on our intranet 
provided details of events in and around the 
office, things to see and do in the local area 
and information on keeping fit.

Global reach
In September 2013 we successfully hosted the 
19th International Association of Insolvency 
Regulators (IAIR) annual conference in 
Edinburgh. I have the privilege of continuing 
to chair IAIR, which brings together the 
experiences and expertise of government 
insolvency regulators from jurisdictions 
around the world. Over 50 “thought leaders” 
from 23 member countries shared experience 
and knowledge in relation to the strategic 
issues facing our respective administrations. 
AiB took the opportunity to update the 
delegates on Scotland’s Bankruptcy reforms, 
enhancing our reputation as a forward thinking 
nation making real improvements to the lives 
of the people who live and work in Scotland.

We also continued to promote knowledge 
sharing and collaboration by participating 
in the “Five Nations” subgroup of IAIR with 
colleagues from the jurisdictions of England 
& Wales, Ireland, Northern Ireland and 
Jersey. The subgroup signed a “Memorandum 
of Understanding” in September 2013 to 
support its principles of cooperation and 
facilitate its operations.

Environmental matters
Public bodies in Scotland are bound by the 
Climate Change Public Bodies Duties set out 
in Part 4 of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 
2009. These duties require that in exercising 
its functions, AiB:

• contributes to carbon emissions reduction 
(climate change mitigation)

• contributes to climate change adaption

• acts sustainably

During 2013-14, we more than achieved 
our carbon emissions reduction target 
and continued a number of initiatives to 
demonstrate our commitment to responsible 
environmental management. Further details 
of our sustainability performance can be 
found in the AiB Sustainability Report 2013-14 
at www.aib.gov.uk

http://www.aib.gov.uk/guidance/environment
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Looking to the future
AiB’s pace of change will increase in 2014-15, 
against the backdrop of an exciting year for 
Scotland’s people.

We will be seeking to implement the 
Bankruptcy and Debt Advice (Scotland) Act 
2014 in spring 2015. To achieve this we will 
continue to work with all our stakeholders 
to develop the supporting legislation. We 
will also continue to implement significant 
changes to our ICT systems and processes to 
facilitate the operational delivery of the new 
legislation.

We will face the challenge of sustaining our cost 
recovery business model, which we successfully 
achieved in 2013-14. This is vital at a time of 
continuing demands on the public purse.

The 2014 International Association of 
Insolvency Regulators (IAIR) Annual 
Conference will be hosted in Washington DC 
and as Chair, I will ensure that IAIR continues 
to play an active role in sharing best 
practice across country boundaries. Skills 
and knowledge transfer are increasingly 
important for all government institutions 
in light of the prevailing global economic 
climate.

Our ambitious vision of a Financial Health 
Service will only be possible with the support 
of AiB staff and all our stakeholders. It is 
because of their continued dedication and 
enthusiasm that I am confident of realising 
our vision.

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
Accountable Officer
5 August 2014
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Directors’ Report

Introduction
This report is prepared in accordance with 
Chapter 5 of Part 15 of the Companies Act 
2006 and Schedule 7 of SI 2008 No 410, as 
interpreted by the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual 2013-14 for the public 
sector context.

Strategic report
The Strategic Report as set out in Chapter 
4A of Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006, 
as interpreted by the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual 2013-14 for the public 
sector context, precedes this Directors’ 
Report.

Rosemary Winter-Scott The Accountant in Bankruptcy/Agency Chief Executive (Chair)

John Cook Depute Accountant/Executive Director, Case Operations

Claire Orr Assistant Chief Executive/Executive Director, Policy and 
Compliance

Charles Keegan Assistant Chief Executive/Executive Director, Corporate 
Services (resigned 13 Oct 2013)

Graeme Watson Executive Director, Corporate Services  
(commenced 1 Jan 2014)

Jeremy Brettell Non-Executive Board Member

Kate Dunlop Non-Executive Board Member

Fiona Gavine Non-Executive Board Member (resigned 1 Dec 2013)

Yvonne MacDermid Non-Executive Board Member

Donna McKenzie Skene Non-Executive Board Member

Board composition
The Board members during 2013-14 comprised:

The Register of Interests can be viewed at www.aib.gov.uk

http://www.aib.gov.uk/about/corporate-governance
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Pension liabilities
The treatment of pension costs is described 
in detail in the Remuneration Report which 
immediately follows this Report and in Notes 
1.10 and 2.3 of the Notes to the Accounts. 

Audit
No payments were made to the external 
auditor, Audit Scotland other than in respect 
of the statutory audit.

Sickness absence
Sickness absence data is contained and 
commented upon in the Strategic Report and 
in Note 2 to the Accounts.

Personal data incidents
As reported in the Governance Statement 
at Part 3 of this document, two minor 
information security issues were identified 
during the year, neither of which required 
to be reported to the UK Information 
Commissioner.

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
Accountable officer
5 August 2014
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Remuneration policy
The remuneration of all the Agency’s 
management and employees is set by the 
Scottish Government under its standard 
terms and conditions of employment. 

Service contracts 
The Constitutional Reform and Governance 
Act 2010 requires Civil Service appointments 
to be made on merit on the basis of fair 
and open competition. The Recruitment 
Principles published by the Civil Service 
Commission specify the circumstances when 
appointments may be made otherwise.

Unless otherwise stated below, the officials 
covered by this report hold appointments 
which are open-ended. Early termination, 

Remuneration Report

other than for misconduct, would result in the 
individual receiving compensation as set out 
in the Civil Service Compensation Scheme.

Further information about the work of the 
Civil Service Commission can be found at 
www.civilservicecommission.org.uk

Remuneration (including salary) and 
pension entitlements 
The following sections provide details of 
the remuneration and pension interests of 
the most senior management (i.e. Board 
members) of the Agency. These following 
sections of the Remuneration Report are 
subject to audit.

http://www.civilservicecommission.org.uk
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Remuneration

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2012-13 2012-13 2012-13

Salary

£’000

Pension 
benefits5

£

Total

£’000

Salary

£’000

Pension 
benefits5

£

Total

£’000

Rosemary
Winter-Scott 
Chief Executive

70-75 £10,446 80-90 70-75 £28,955 95-105

Claire Orr1

Executive
Director of Policy 
and Compliance

65-70 £56,596 120-130 55-60 £22,685 75-85

Charles Keegan2

Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Services

25-30

(55-60 full year 
equivalent)

£5,026

30-40

(60-70 full year 
equivalent)

35-40

(50-55 full year 
equivalent)

£12,178

45-55

(60-70 full year 
equivalent)

John Cook
Executive 
Director of Case 
Operations

55-60 £23,286 75-85 50-55 £76,035 125-135

Graeme Watson3

Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Services

10-15

(50-55 full year 
equivalent)

£5,526 15-25 - - -

Fiona Gavine4

Non-Executive 
Board Member

0-5 - 0-5 5-10 - 5-10

Yvonne 
MacDermid
Non-Executive 
Board Member

0-5 - 0-5 0-5 - 0-5

Donna 
McKenzie Skene
Non-Executive 
Board Member

5-10 - 5-10 5-10 - 5-10

Jeremy Brettell
Non-Executive 
Board Member

0-5 - 0-5 5-10 - 5-10

Kate Dunlop
Non-Executive 
Board Member

5-10 - 5-10 0-5 0-5

1. Claire Orr was promoted to the Senior Civil Service on 12 August 2013

2. Charles Keegan left the Agency and the Board on 13 October 2013

3. Graeme Watson joined the Agency on 1 January 2014

4. Fiona Gavine left the Board on 17 December 2013

5. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension multiplied by 20) plus 
(the real increase in any lump sum) less (the contributions made by the individual). The real increases exclude increases due 
to inflation or any increase or decreases due to a transfer of pension rights
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Salary 
‘Salary’ includes gross salary, overtime,        
and any other allowance to the extent that        
it is subject to UK taxation. This report is 
based on payments made within the year      
by the Agency.

Benefits in kind 
There were no benefits in kind within          
2013-14 (2012-13: £nil).

Bonuses
There were no bonuses within 2013-14  
(2012-13: £nil).

Non-Executive Board Members
Non-Executive Board Members (NEBMs)are 
not salaried employees, but receive a day 
rate and travel expenses for attendance at 
Board, Audit Committee and Policy & Cases 
Committee meetings. No travel expenses 
have been claimed by Yvonne MacDermid in 
2013-14 (2012-13: £nil) and her salary was 
paid to her employer, Money Advice Scotland.

Registers of Interest
A Register of Interests of Executive and        
Non-Executive Board Members is held 
centrally and is reviewed regularly with 
the opportunity for updates at each Board 
meeting.

Pay multiples
In accordance with the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM), reporting bodies 
are required to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the 
median remuneration of the organisation’s 
workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest-
paid director in the Agency in the financial 
year 2013-14 was £72,500 (2012-13: £72,500). 
This was 3.1 times (2012-13: 3.3) The median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was 
£23,151 (2012-13: £22,173).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-
consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind. It does not include employer 
pension contributions and the cash equivalent 
transfer value of pensions.

Pension benefits

The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)
This is the actuarially assessed capitalised 
value of the pension scheme benefits accrued 
by a member at a particular point in time. 
The benefits valued are the member’s 
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV 
is a payment made by a pension scheme or 
arrangement to secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme or arrangement 
when the member leaves a scheme and 
chooses to transfer the pension benefits 
they have accrued in their former scheme. 
The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a 
senior capacity to which disclosure applies.

The figures include the value of any pension 
benefit in another scheme or arrangement 
which the membership has transferred to 
the Civil Service pension arrangements. 
They also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a result 
of their buying additional pension benefits 
at their own cost. CETVs are calculated in 
accordance with the Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008 and do not take account of 
any actual or potential reduction to benefits 
resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which 
may be due when pension benefits are 
taken.
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The real increase in the value of the CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that 
is funded by the employer. It does not 
include the increase in accrued pension 
due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme 
or arrangement) and uses common market 
valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period.

Pension benefits

Accrued pension 
at pension age 

as at 31/3/14 and 
related lump sum

Real increase 
in pension and 

related lump sum 
at pension age

CETV at 
31/3/14

CETV at 
31/3/13

Real 
increase 
in CETV

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rosemary 
Winter-Scott 

10-15
no lump sum

0-2.5
no lump sum 239 213 7

Charles Keegan
10-15

Plus lump sum 
of 35-40

0-2.5
plus lump sum 

of 0-2.5
185 176 5

Graeme Watson
5-10

Plus lump sum 
of 20-25

0-2.5
plus lump sum 

of 0-2.5
132 126 4

John Cook
20-25

Plus lump sum 
of 30-35

0-2.5
plus lump sum 

of 0-2.5
317 283 15

Claire Orr
20-25

Plus lump sum 
of 60-65

2.5-5
plus lump sum 

of 7.5-10
298 247 33
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Civil Service pensions

Pension benefits are provided through the 
Civil Service pension arrangements. From 
30 July 2007, civil servants may be in one of 
four defined benefit schemes; either a final 
salary scheme (classic, premium or classic 
plus); or a whole career scheme (nuvos). 
These statutory arrangements are unfunded 
with the cost of benefits met by monies voted 
by Parliament each year. Pensions payable 
under classic, premium, classic plus and 
nuvos are increased annually in line with 
Pensions Increase legislation. Members 
joining from October 2002 may opt for either 
the appropriate defined benefit arrangement 
or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension 
with an employer contribution (partnership 
pension account).

Employee contributions are set at the rate 
of between 1.5 per cent and 6.25 per cent 
of pensionable earnings for classic and 
between 3.5 per cent and 8.25 per cent for 
premium, classic plus and nuvos. In 2010 
the Government announced that pension 
contributions for public service workers 
would rise by an average of 3.2 percentage 
points of pay and the third phase of member 
contribution increases would take place in 
April 2014. This contribution change follows 
the increases introduced in April 2012 and 
April 2013. The increases do not apply to 
those members earning less than £15,000 a 
year (based on a full time equivalent of salary 
and pensionable allowances. 

Benefits in classic accrue at the rate of 
1/80th of final pensionable earnings for 
each year of service. In addition, a lump 
sum equivalent to three years initial pension 
is payable on retirement. For premium, 
benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final 
pensionable earnings for each year of service. 
Unlike classic, there is no automatic lump 
sum. Classic plus is essentially a hybrid with 

benefits for service before 1 October 2002 
calculated broadly as per classic and benefits 
for service from October 2002 worked out as 
in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a 
pension based on his pensionable earnings 
during their period of scheme membership. 
At the end of the scheme year (31 March) 
the member’s earned pension account is 
credited with 2.3 per cent of their pensionable 
earnings in that scheme year and the accrued 
pension is uprated in line with Pensions 
Increase legislation. In all cases members 
may opt to give up (commute) pension for a 
lump sum up to the limits set by the Finance 
Act 2004.

The partnership pension account is a 
stakeholder pension arrangement. The 
employer makes a basic contribution of 
between 3 per cent and 12.5 per cent 
(depending on the age of the member) into a 
stakeholder pension product chosen by the 
employee from a panel of three providers. 
The employee does not have to contribute, 
but where they do make contributions, the 
employer will match these up to a limit of 3 
per cent of pensionable salary (in addition to  
the employer’s basic contribution). Employers 
also contribute a further 0.8 per cent of 
pensionable salary to cover the cost of 
centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in 
service and ill health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted is the pension 
the member is entitled to receive when they 
reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing 
to be an active member of the scheme if they 
are already at or over pension age. Pension 
age is 60 for members of classic, premium 
and classic plus and 65 for members of 
nuvos.
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From April 2015, the majority of members will 
move from their existing Civil Service Pension 
Arrangement into a new pension scheme. 
This new scheme is similar to nuvos. Those 
members who were ten years or less away 
from their current Normal Pension Age on 
April 2012 will  not move to the new scheme.

Further details about the Civil Service 
pension arrangements can be found at the 
website http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/
pensions 

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
Accountable Officer
5 August 2014

http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions
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Under section 19(4) of the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000, the 
Scottish Ministers have directed Accountant 
in Bankruptcy to prepare for each financial 
year a statement of accounts in the form 
of, and on the basis set out in, the Accounts 
Direction at Appendix D. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy and of its income 
and expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity 
and cash flows for the financial year.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable 
Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual and in particular to:

• observe the Accounts Direction issued 
by the Scottish Ministers, including 
the relevant accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis

• make judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis

• state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been 
followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the financial 
statements

• prepare the financial statements on a 
going concern basis

Statement of the Accountable  
Officer’s Responsibilities

Part 3: Statements, Audit Report  
and Accounts

The Principal Accountable Officer of the 
Scottish Government has designated 
the Chief Executive as Accountable 
Officer of Accountant in Bankruptcy. The 
responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, 
including responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of the public finances for which 
the Accountable Officer is answerable, for 
keeping proper records and for safeguarding 
Accountant in Bankruptcy’s assets, are set 
out in the Memorandum to Accountable 
Officers issued by Scottish Ministers.
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Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer of Accountant in 
Bankruptcy (AiB), I have responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of risk 
management and internal control. This 
system supports the achievement of the 
Agency’s Policies, aims and objectives set by 
the Scottish Ministers, whilst safeguarding 
the public funds and assets for which I am 
personally responsible. These personal 
responsibilities are assigned to me as 
agreed by the Director General Enterprise, 
Environment and Innovation.

In the discharge of my personal 
responsibilities I ensure organisational 
compliance with the Scottish Public Finance 
Manual (SPFM). The SPFM is issued by the 
Scottish Ministers to provide guidance to 
the Scottish Government and other relevant 
bodies on the proper handling and reporting 
of public funds. It sets out the relevant 
statutory, parliamentary and administrative 
requirements, emphasises the need for 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, and 
promotes good practice and high standards of 
propriety.

Governance framework
In my role as Chief Executive, I am supported 
by a number of Non-Executive Board 
Members and internal Executive Directors 
who together form the Board. The role of 
the Board is to provide strategic leadership, 
direction, support and guidance for the 
Agency and promote commitment to its core 
values, policies and objectives. The Board 
also has responsibility for overseeing the 
work of the Agency.

The Board, which meets eight times per 
year and also has a number of “development 
days”, is supported by two sub committees 
which meet at least quarterly. These sub 
committees are:

• the Audit Committee, responsible for 
overseeing and reviewing the risk, control 
and governance processes that have been 
established and the associated assurance 
processes, through constructive challenge

• the Policy and Cases Committee, 
responsible for providing the Accountant 
in Bankruptcy with advice on challenging 
cases and policy issues

In addition to the above, quarterly meetings 
are held throughout the year with our “Fraser 
Figure”, the Director of Business at the 
Scottish Government who facilitates relations 
between the Agency and the Scottish 
Government.

Risk assessment
All bodies to which the SPFM is directly 
applicable must operate a risk management 
strategy in accordance with relevant guidance 
issued by the Scottish Ministers. The general 
principles for a successful risk management 
strategy are set out in the SPFM.

The Agency maintains a corporate risk 
register which records internal and external 
risks and identifies the mitigating actions 
required to reduce the threat of these risks 
occurring and their impact. The corporate 
risk register is regularly updated and 
reviewed at quarterly meetings between all 
branch risk register owners. Each individual 
risk is allocated an owner who ensures that 
any mitigating action is carried out. 

Governance Statement
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The principal risks for the year to 31 March 
2014 related to:

• changes to wider Scottish Government,  
UK and EU policy and processes impacting 
on AiB’s current and future operations

• development of policy propositions in 
relation to future powers for Scottish 
Ministers

• reputational risk due to resistance to 
policies, particularly the development           
of a Financial Health Service

• recruitment and retention of staff in key 
posts

• new ICT system not fulfilling the 
requirements of the new bankruptcy 
legislation (new for 2013-14)

Risk registers are also used for specific 
projects as a management control tool 
to ensure a successful outcome. These 
provide a mechanism to report risks to the 
project management board for assessment 
and to escalate high level risks to senior 
management to ensure preventative action     
is taken.

The Agency follows Scottish Government 
policy on Information Security and has a 
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) along 
with Information Asset Owners in place to 
manage risk to information. Two minor issues 
were identified during the year, neither of 
which required to be reported to the UK 
Information Commissioner (2012-13: none). 
Improvement actions were nevertheless 
implemented to prevent future recurrences. 

Risk and control framework
The Agency’s risk and control mechanism 
is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify the principal risks to the achievement 
of the organisation’s policies, aims and 
objectives; to evaluate the nature and extent 
of those risks and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically.

The process within the organisation accords 
with guidance from the Scottish Ministers 
provided in the SPFM and has been in place 
for the year ended 31 March 2014 and up to 
the date of the approval of the annual report 
and accounts.

I have continually reviewed our capacity 
to manage risks during the course of the 
year. The Board met regularly to assess and 
manage the risks identified in the corporate 
risk register. My Audit Committee, chaired 
by an independent Non-Executive Board 
Member, takes the lead role in ensuring the 
risk management strategy is functioning 
adequately.

More generally, the Agency is committed 
to a process of continuous development 
and improvement: developing systems 
in response to any relevant reviews and 
developments in best practice in this area. 
During 2013-14, and up to the date of 
signing the accounts, the Agency agreed a 
formal policy on Best Value and conducted 
a number of self-assessment exercises 
against best practice standards developed 
by Audit Scotland. These will result in the 
development and implementation of action 
plans and enhance our culture of continuous 
improvement.
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Review of effectiveness
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility 
for reviewing the effectiveness of the risk and 
control framework. My review is informed by:

• the business managers within the 
organisation who have responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the 
risk and control framework

• the work of the internal auditors of 
the Scottish Government’s Finance 
Directorate, who submit regular reports 
to the Agency’s Audit Committee. These 
reports provide independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Agency’s systems of risk 
management and internal control together 
with recommendations for improvement

• comments made by Audit Scotland in their 
management letters and other reports

• the annual report provided by the Chair      
of the Audit Committee, detailing the work 
of that committee during the year

• the risk register in place for all critical 
elements of our operations, which is 
reviewed by business managers at 
quarterly intervals

• regular reports on the management of key 
project risks

• information provided by the core financial 
systems of the Scottish Government which 
the agency uses and relies on to carry out 
our own accounting and payment functions 
and some of our procurement of goods and 
services

The risk and control framework is designed 
to manage rather than eliminate the risk 
of failure to achieve the organisation’s 
policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.

Assurance on the maintenance and review of 
internal control systems is provided by each 
of the Executive Directors within the Agency 
who each submit an annual certificate of 
assurance covering their areas. No significant 
control issues have been identified for the 
2013-14 financial year or the period up to the 
signing of the accounts.

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
Accountable Officer
5 August 2014
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Independent auditor’s report to Accountant 
in Bankruptcy, the Auditor General for 
Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 
I have audited the financial statements of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy for the year ended 
31 March 2014 under the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
The financial statements comprise of the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure, 
the statement of financial position, the 
statement of cash flows, the statement of 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and the related 
notes. The financial reporting framework 
that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and international Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by 
the European Union, and as interpreted 
and adapted by the 2013/14 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (the 2013/14 
FReM). 

This report is made solely to the parties to 
whom it is addressed in accordance with the 
Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In 
accordance with paragraph 125 of the Code 
of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor 
General for Scotland, I do not undertake to 
have responsibilities to members or officers, 
in their individual capacities, or to third 
parties. 

Respective responsibilities of Accountable 
Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of 
the Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and is also responsible 
for ensuring the regularity of expenditure 
and income. My responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) as required by the Code of Audit 
Practice approved by the Auditor General 
for Scotland. Those standards require 
me to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. I 
am also responsible for giving an opinion 
on the regularity of expenditure and income 
in accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the body’s 
circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Accountable Officer; 

Independent Auditor’s Report
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and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. It also involves obtaining 
evidence about the regularity of expenditure 
and income. In addition, I read all the 
financial and non-financial information 
in the annual report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based 
on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by me in the course 
of performing the audit. If I become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements, 
irregularities, or inconsistencies I consider 
the implications for my report. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the 
state of the body’s affairs as at 31 March 
2014 and of its net operating cost for the 
year then ended

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 
2013-14 FReM

• have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish 
Ministers 

Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion in all material respects: 

• the expenditure and income in the 
financial statements were incurred or 
applied in accordance with any applicable 
enactments and guidance issued by the 
Scottish Ministers, the Budget (Scotland) 
Act covering the financial year and 
sections 4 to 7 of the Public Finance and 
accountability (Scotland) Act 2000

• the sums paid out of the Scottish 
Consolidated Fund for the purpose 
of meeting the expenditure shown in 
the financial statements were applied 
in accordance with section 65 of the      
Scotland Act 1998

Opinion on other prescribed matters 
In my opinion: 

• the part of the Remuneration Report to 
be audited has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish 
Ministers

• the information given in the Management 
Commentary for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements
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Matters on which I am required to report by 
exception 
I am required to report to you if, in my 
opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not 
been kept

• the financial statements and the part of 
the Remuneration Report to be audited 
are not in agreement with the accounting 
records

• I have not received all the information and 
explanations I require for my audit

• the Governance Statement does not 
comply with guidance from the Scottish 
Ministers

I have nothing to report in respect of these 
matters.

Asif A Haseeb
Audit Scotland
8 Nelson Mandela Place
Glasgow
G2 1BT
5 August 2014
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Annual Accounts

AiB’s Vision 
A ‘Financial Health Service’ providing access to debt 
advice, debt management and debt relief, building 
the financial capability of individuals, and preventing 
future debt problems.
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Annual Accounts 2013-14

Accountant in Bankruptcy

Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2014

2013-14 2012-13

Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Programme costs

Expenditure
Staff costs 2 4,432 4,756
Other operating costs 3 2,302 2,018
Direct sequestration 
costs

3 4,517 5,664

Non-cash expenditure 3 445 359

Total expenditure 11,696 12,797

Total operating income 4 (11,669) (12,143)

Net operating cost 27 654

Net gain on revaluation/
indexation of property, plant 
and equipment

5 (5) 0

Total comprehensive 
expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2014

22 654

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2014

Note 31 March
2014

£’000

31 March 
2013 

£’000

Non-current assets:   
Property, plant and equipment 5 331 434
Intangible assets 6 1,048 619

Total non-current assets 1,379 1,053

Current assets:
Trade receivables and other current assets 7 1,067 1,285
Cash and cash equivalents 8 1,745 1,216

Total current assets 2,812 2,501

Total assets 4,191 3,554

Current liabilities:
Trade payables and other current liabilities
Provisions 

9
12

(2,083)
(3)

(2,173)
(11)

Total current liabilities (2,086) (2,184)

Non-current assets plus net current assets 2,105 1,370

Non-current liabilities:
Provisions for liabilities and charges 12 0 (3)
Other liabilities 9 (194) (210)

Total non-current liabilities (194) (213)
Assets less liabilities 1,911 1,157

Taxpayers’ equity
General fund SOCTE 1,787 1,038
Revaluation reserve SOCTE 124 119

Total taxpayers’ equity 1,911 1,157 

Rosemary Winter-Scott OBE
Accountable Officer
5 August 2014
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2014

2013-14 2012-13
Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating cost (27) (654)
Adjust for non-cash transactions 3 445 359
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 10 218 (186)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 10 (106) 420
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 (11) (11)
Net cash outflow from operating activities 519 (72)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (35) (54)
Purchase of intangible assets 6 (689) (224)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (724) (278)

Cash flows from financing activities
From Scottish Consolidated Fund SOCTE 734 570

Net financing 734 570
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 529 220

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8 1,216 996

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 8 1,745 1,216
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2014

Note

General 
fund

£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2013 1,038 119 1,157
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14    

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 5 5 5
Non-cash charges – auditor’s remuneration 3 42 – 42
Net operating cost for the year (27) – (27)
Parliamentary Funding 734 – 734

Balance at 31 March 2014 1,787 124 1,911

Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 31 March 2013

Note

General 
fund

£’000

Revaluation 
reserve

£’000

Total

 
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2012 1,080 119 1,199
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2012-13   

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of 
property, plant and equipment 5 –
Non-cash charges – auditor’s remuneration 3 42 – 42
Net operating cost for the year (654) – (654)
Parliamentary Funding 570 570

Balance at 31 March 2013 1,038 119 1,157
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1. Accounting policies

1.1 Authority
In accordance with the accounts direction 
issued by Scottish Ministers under section 
19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 these accounts have 
been prepared in compliance with the 
principles and disclosure requirements of 
the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) issued by HM Treasury, which follows 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU), International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 
to the extent that they are meaningful and 
appropriate in the public sector. They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with 
items considered material in relation to the 
accounts.

The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with IFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise 
judgement in the process of applying the 
accounting policies. The accounting policies, 
and where necessary estimation techniques, 
selected are done so in accordance with the 
principles set out in International Accounting 
Standard 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

1.2 Accounting convention
These accounts are prepared on a historical 
cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value.

1.3 Accounting standards issued but not 
adopted
IAS8 requires disclosure of information 
relating to the impact of an accounting 
change that will be required by a new 
standard that has been issued but not yet 
adopted. 

The standards that are considered 
relevant and the anticipated impact on the 
consolidated accounts are as follows: 

• IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements outlines the requirements 
for the preparation and presentation 
of consolidated financial statements, 
requiring entities to consolidate entities it 
controls

• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements outlines the 
accounting by entities that jointly control 
an arrangement

• IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities is a consolidated disclosure 
standard requiring a wide range of 
disclosures about an entity’s interests 
in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and unconsolidated ‘structured 
entities’
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• IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement. The 
adoption of this standard could change 
the measurement techniques used when 
determining fair value

• IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 are subject 
to FReM application from 2014-15. IFRS  
13 is subject to FReM application from 
2015-16 onwards

The impact of these standards on the 
accounts has not been determined however 
they are not expected to have a significant 
effect. 

1.4 Critical judgements made in applying 
accounting policies
In applying the accounting policies the agency 
has had to make certain judgements about 
complex transactions or those involving 
uncertainty about future events. Critical 
judgements have been made in respect 
of income and expenditure accruals for 
provider fees. As a proportion of these fees 
are charged at the beginning of the case and 
a proportion at the end, assumptions have 
been made about the average case length 
as well as the amount that will be recovered 
by the agency in respect of these charges. 
Assumptions are based on relevant historical 
information. 

1.5 Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised 
where:

• it is held for use in delivering services or 
for administrative purposes

• it is probable that future economic benefit 
will flow to, or service potential be provided 
to, the Agency

• it is expected to be used for more than one 
financial year

• the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably

All assets falling into the following categories 
are capitalised:

• equipment and vehicles which are capable 
of being used for a period which could 
exceed one year, and have a cost equal to 
or greater than £5,000

• information and Communications 
Technology (ICT) systems are capitalised 
where they form part of a group of similar 
assets purchased at approximately the 
same time and cost over £1,000 in total

• significant improvements to leasehold 
properties will be capitalised where the 
total cost of the group of assets is equal to 
or over £5,000

Expenditure on furniture, fixtures and fittings 
is charged to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure in the year the cost is 
incurred and is not capitalised.

Where a large asset, for example a building, 
includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives e.g. Plant 
and equipment, then these components are 
treated as separate assets and depreciated 
over their own useful economic lives.
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Measurement

Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets 
are measured initially at cost, representing 
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and bringing it to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended 
by management.

All assets are measured subsequently at    
fair value as follows:

• valuation of all land and buildings are 
reassessed by valuers under a rolling 
5-year programme of professional 
valuations and adjusted in intervening 
years to take account of movements in 
prices since the latest valuation

• these valuations are carried out in 
accordance with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal 
and Valuation Manual insofar as these 
terms are consistent with the agreed 
requirements of the Scottish Government

Other plant and equipment assets that have 
short useful lives or low values (or both) are 
reported on a depreciated historic cost basis 
as a proxy for fair value. 

Assets under construction are valued at 
current cost. This is calculated by the 
expenditure incurred to which an appropriate 
index is applied to arrive at current value. 
Assets under construction are also subject to 
impairment review.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised into 
an asset’s carrying value where it is probable 
the future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Agency and the cost 
can be reliably measured. Where subsequent 
expenditure does not meet these criteria, the 
expenditure is charged to the statement of 
comprehensive net expenditure. If part of an 
asset is replaced, then the part it replaces is  
de-recognised, regardless of whether or not it 
has been depreciated separately. 

Revaluations and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from 
revaluations are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they reverse an 
impairment previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure, 
in which case they are recognised as income. 

Movements on revaluation are considered for 
individual assets rather than groups or land/
buildings together.

Decreases in asset values and impairments 
are charged to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an available balance 
for the asset concerned and thereafter are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated to their estimated residual value 
over their remaining useful economic lives in 
a manner consistent with the consumption of 
economic or service delivery benefits.
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1.6 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets 
without physical substance which are capable 
of being sold separately from the rest of 
the Agency’s business or which arise from 
contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to, or 
service potential will be provided to, the 
Agency and where the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. 

Intangible assets that meet the recognition 
criteria are capitalised where they are 
capable of being used in the Agency’s 
activities for more than one year and they 
have a cost of at least £1,000.

The Agency’s main class of capitalised 
intangible assets are internally generated 
intangible assets. Internally generated 
goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and similar items 
are not capitalised as intangible assets. 
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.

Expenditure on development is capitalised 
only where all of the following can be 
demonstrated:

• the project is technically feasible to the 
point of completion and will result in an 
intangible asset for sale or use

• the Agency intends to complete the asset 
and sell or use it

• the Agency has the ability to sell or use the 
asset

• how the intangible asset will generate 
probable future economic or service 
delivery benefits e.g. The presence of a 
market for it or its output, or where it is to 
be used for internal use, the usefulness of 
the asset

• adequate financial, technical and other 
resources are available to the Agency to 
complete the development and sell or use 
the asset

• the Agency can measure reliably the 
expenses attributable to the asset during 
development

Expenditure capitalised in line with the above 
is limited to the value of probable future 
economic benefits.

Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis on each main class of property, plant and 
equipment as follows:

Equipment – Non-fixed plant 3 to 10 years

ICT equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years or life of lease term if shorter

Held for sale assets Not depreciated

Assets under construction Not depreciated
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Measurement

Valuation
Intangible assets are recognised initially 
at cost, comprising all directly attributable 
costs needed to create, produce and prepare 
the asset to the point that it is capable 
of operating in the manner intended by 
management.

Subsequently intangible assets are measured 
at fair value. Where an active (homogeneous) 
market exists, intangible assets are carried 
at fair value. Where no active market exists, 
the intangible asset is revalued, using indices 
or some suitable model, to the lower of 
depreciated replacement cost and the value 
in use where the asset is income generating. 
Where there is no value in use, the 
intangible asset is valued using depreciated 
replacement cost. These measures are a 
proxy for fair value.

Revaluations and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from 
revaluations are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they reverse an 
impairment previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure, 
in which case they are recognised as income. 

Decreases in asset values and impairments 
are charged to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an available balance 
for the asset concerned, and thereafter are 
charged to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure.

Intangible assets held for sale are reclassified 
to ‘non-current assets held for sale’ 
measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount or ‘fair value less cost to sell’.

Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised to their 
estimated residual value over their remaining 
useful economic lives in a manner that is 
consistent with the consumption of economic 
or service delivery benefits.

Amortisation is charged on a straight line 
basis to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure on each of the main class of 
intangible assets as follows:

Computer software – 
internally developed

5 years

Computer software – 
licences  

3 years or life of 
licence if less

Held for sale Not amortised

1.7 Sale of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and non-current assets 
held for sale
Disposal of non-current assets is accounted 
for as a reduction to the value of assets equal 
to the net book value of the assets disposed. 
When set against any sales proceeds, the 
resulting gain or loss on disposal will be 
recorded in the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure. Non-current assets held 
for sale will include assets transferred from 
other categories and will reflect any resultant 
changes in valuation.

1.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to depreciation 
and amortisation are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. Where an asset is not held for the 
purpose of generating cash flows, value in 
use is assumed to equal the cost of replacing 
the service potential provided by the asset, 
unless there has been a reduction in service 
potential. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets that suffer an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal 
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of the impairment. Impairment losses 
charged to the statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure are deducted from future 
operating costs to the extent that they are 
identified as being reversed in subsequent 
revaluations.

1.9 Leasing
Operating leases
All Agency leases are regarded as operating 
leases and the rentals are charged to 
expenditure on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease. Operating lease incentives 
received are added to the lease rentals and 
charged to expenditure over the life of the 
lease.

1.10 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related 
payments are recognised in the year in which 
the service is received from employees. The 
cost of annual leave and flexible working 
time entitlement earned but not taken 
by employees at the end of the year is 
recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry 
forward leave into the following year.

Pension costs
Present and past employees are covered by 
the provisions of the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (PCSPS) which is a defined 
benefit scheme and is unfunded. The Agency 
recognises the expected cost of providing 
pensions for their employees on a systematic 
and rational basis over the period during 
which they benefit from their services by 
payment to the PCSPS of amounts calculated 
on an accruing basis. (Relevant disclosures 
are reported in Note 2). Liability for the 
payment of future benefits is a charge to the 
PCSPS.  

In respect of the defined contribution 
schemes, the Agency recognises the 
contributions payable for the year.

1.11 Financial instruments
Cash requirements for Accountant in 
Bankruptcy are met through the Scottish 
Government and therefore financial 
instruments play a more limited role in 
creating and managing risk than would apply 
within a non-public sector body. The majority 
of financial instruments relate to Receivables 
and Payables incurred through the normal 
operational activities of the Agency. The 
Agency is therefore exposed to little credit, 
liquidity or market risk.

Financial assets
The Agency classifies its financial assets in 
the following categories; at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, and 
available for sale. The classification depends 
on the purpose for which the financial assets 
were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Financial assets held by the Accountant in 
Bankruptcy have been classified as loans and 
receivables or cash. Loans and receivables 
comprise trade and other receivables.

Loans and other receivables are measured 
at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method, less provision for impairment.

Financial liabilities
The Agency classifies its financial liabilities in 
the following categories: at fair value through 
profit or loss, and other financial liabilities. 
The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial liabilities were issued. 
Management determines the classification of 
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities of the Agency consist of 
trade and other payables and are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
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1.12 Inventories 
The Agency does not hold inventories of any 
kind. The cost of stationery and publications 
is charged as an expense within the 
statement of comprehensive net expenditure 
in the year in which the expenditure is 
incurred.

1.13 Related party transactions 
Material related party transactions are 
disclosed in line with the requirements of    
IAS 24.

1.14 Provisions 
The Agency provides for legal or constructive 
obligations that are of uncertain timing or 
amount at the balance sheet date on the 
basis of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation. Where 
the effect of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated cash flows are 
discounted using the discount rate  prescribed 
by HM Treasury.

1.15 Value added tax 
Most of the chargeable activities undertaken 
by the Agency are outside the scope of VAT. 
Where output tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts are stated net 
of VAT. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the 
relevant expenditure category or included in 
the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. 

1.16 Segmental reporting
The Agency identifies operating segments 
on the basis of internal reports that are 
regularly reviewed by the Chief Executive and 
the Board, in order to allocate resources to 
the segments and assess their performance. 
Accountant in Bankruptcy reports on one 
single core segment which represents the 
principle objective of the administration and 
monitoring of bankruptcy in Scotland.

1.17 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash 
in hand, deposits held at call with banks 
and any other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three 
months or less and bank overdrafts. Any bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in 
current liabilities on the balance sheet.

1.18 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as 
consignation and sequestration funds) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the Agency 
has no beneficial interest in them. However, 
they are disclosed in a separate note to the 
accounts in accordance with the requirements 
of the FReM.
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2.  Staff numbers and costs

2.1 Staff numbers
The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed (including senior 
management) was as follows:

Branch Senior 
management

Other 
permanent 

staff

Contingent 
workers and 
fixed term 

appointments

Staff on inward 
secondment

Total 
number

2013-14

Total 
number 

2012-13

Case 
Operations 1.7 72.7 0.6 0 75.0 89.6

Chief Executive 
Office 1.0 0 0 0 1.0 3.0

Corporate 
Services 2.0 31.2 2.5 0 35.7 37.3

Policy and 
Compliance 3.0 20.2 0 1.6 24.8 27.1

Total 7.7 124.1 3.1 1.6 136.5 157.0

2013-14 2012-13
Average number of disabled employees employed 
in year 7 7

2013-14 2012-13
Average annualised sick days for full-time equivalent 
staff 7.9 days 8.1 days

Permanent staff members are all civil servants employed by the Scottish Government. Senior 
management staff are all staff at Grade C1 and above.

Positive policies are in place in relation to disabled employees. Special facilities are provided 
where necessary. Every effort is made to comply with equal opportunities legislation.
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2.2 Payroll costs
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

 

Wages & salaries 3,350 3,526
Social security costs 228 241
Other pension costs 595 616
Inward secondments 126 106
Contingent/fixed term appointment 133 267

4,432 4,756

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes – exit packages

2013-14 2012-13
Exit package cost 

band

£’000

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

< 10 – – – –
10-25 – – – 1

25-50 – – – 2

50-100 – 1 – –
–

Total number – 1 – 3
Total resource 

cost (£’000) – 62 – 77

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of 
the Civil Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the Superannuation 
Act 1972. Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Agency has 
agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met in full by the Agency and not by the Civil 
Service pension scheme. Ill health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme and are 
not included in the table.

2.3 Pensions
The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is an unfunded multi-employer defined                         
benefit scheme but Accountant in Bankruptcy is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities. The scheme actuary valued the scheme as at 31 March 2007. You can 
find details in the resource accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation                   
(www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk).

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk
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For 2013-14, employers’ contributions of 
£593k were payable to the PCSPS (2012-13: 
£614k) at one of four rates in the range 16.7 
per cent to 24.3 per cent of pensionable pay, 
based on salary bands. The Scheme Actuary 
reviews employer contributions usually every 
four years following a full scheme valuation. 
The contribution rates are set to meet the 
cost of the benefits accruing during 2013/14 
to be paid when the member retires and not 
the benefits paid during this period to existing 
pensioners.

Employees can opt to open a partnership 
pension account, a stakeholder pension 
with an employer contribution. Employers’ 
contributions of £2k were paid to one or more 
of the panel of three appointed stakeholder 
pension providers. Employer contributions 
are age-related and range from 3 per cent to 12.5 
per cent of pensionable pay. Employers also 
match employee contributions up to 3 per 
cent of pensionable pay. 

Contributions due to the partnership pension 
providers at the balance sheet date were £nil. 
Contributions prepaid at that date were £nil.

2.4 Remuneration and pension benefits
Board remuneration and pension benefits are 
contained within the Remuneration Report.

Further details about Civil Service pension 
arrangements can be found at the website: 
www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk
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3. Expenditure analysis

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

(a) Other operating costs
Travel & subsistence 48 49
Accommodation* 617 598
General administration 1,637 1,371

2,302 2,018

2013-14 2012-13

£’000 £’000
(b) Direct sequestration costs
Agents’ administration fees 3,056 4,172
Sequestration outlays 791 772
Edinburgh gazette 0 1
Legal fees 670 719

4,517 5,664

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

(c) Non cash transactions
Depreciation 403 317
Auditor’s fees 42 42

445 359

*Included in Accommodation is lease expenditure of £372k for the 2013-14 rental of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy’s Kilwinning Office.
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4. Operating income

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Creditor petition fee 474 433
Repayment to public purse 4,770 4,210
Debtor application fees 1,187 1,231
Trustee supervision fee 1,782 2,149
Trust deed registration fee 259 –
Consignations 197 180
Statutory fees 2,546 2,625
Search fees and discharge certificates 23 50
Debt arrangement application income 408 243
Section 58 receipts 0 980
Money advice grant 23 42

11,669 12,143



Annual Report and Accounts 
2013-14

48

5. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fittings, 

equipment IT equipment Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2013 1,057 112 99 1,268
Revaluation  24 24
Additions 35 35
Disposals (3) (5) (8)

At 31 March 2014 1,081 109 129 1,319

Depreciation
At 1 April 2013 687 90 57 834
Provided during year 107 19 17 143
Backlog depreciation 19 19
Disposals (3) (5) (8)

At 31 March 2014 813 106 69 988

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2014 268 3 60 331

At 1 April 2013 370 22 42 434
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Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fittings, 

equipment IT equipment Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2012 1,042 112 159 1,313
Additions 15 – 39 54
Transfers* – – (93) (93)
Disposals – – (6) (6)

At 31 March 2013 1,057 112 99 1,268 

Depreciation
At 1 April 2012 581 70 147 798
Provided during year 106 20 7 133
Disposals – – (6) (6)
Transfers – – (91) (91)

At 31 March 2013 687 90 57 834

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2013 370 22 42 434

At 1 April 2012 461 42 11 514

* The IT equipment transfer in 2012-13 relates to software and development which has been 
reclassified to more accurately reflect the nature of these assets.
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6. Intangible assets

Software 
licences

IT software and 
development Websites Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2013 68 1,739 18 1,825
Additions 13 675 0 688
Disposals

At 31 March 2014 81 2,414 18 2,513

Amortisation
At 1 April 2013 62 1,140 4 1,206
Provided during year 5 251 3 259
Disposals

At 31 March 2014 67 1,391 7 1,465

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2014 14 1,023 11 1,048

At 1 April 2013 6 599 14 619
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Software 
licences

IT software and 
development Websites Total

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2012 64 1,427 18 1,509
Additions 4 219 – 223
Transfers* – 93 – 93

At 31 March 2013 68 1,739 18 1,825

Amortisation
At 1 April 2012 56 875 – 931
Provided During Year 6 174 4 184
Transfers* – 91 – 91

At 31 March 2013 62 1,140 4 1,206

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2013 6 599 14 619

At 1 April 2012 8 552 18 578

* The IT software and development transfer in 2012-13 relates to assets which have been 
reclassified to IT equipment to more accurately reflect the nature of these assets.
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7. Receivables

Amounts falling due within one year
2013-14 2012-13

£’000 £’000
(a) Analysis by type
 Accrued income 550 528
 Prepayments 113 143
 Trade receivables 390 596
 Other receivables 14 18

1,067 1,285

(b) Intra-government balances
 Balances with other central government godies – –
 Balances with local authorities 14 18
 Balances with NHS bodies – –
 Balances with public corporations and trading funds – –
 Total intra-government balances 14 18
 Balances with bodies external to government 1,053 1,267

1,067 1,285

8. Cash and cash equivalents

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

 
Balance at 1 April 1,216 996

Net change in cash balance 529 220

Balance at 31 March 1,745 1,216 

As all payments and receipts are effected through seas (Scottish Government Accounting 
System) apart from accounts used as the means for clearing inward payments, no other 
separate bank accounts are currently held by the Agency other than those held on behalf of 
third parties as detailed in Note 14.
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9. Payables

Amounts falling due within one year
2013-14 2012-13

£’000 £’000
(a) Analysis by type
Employee benefits accrual 131 146
Other accruals 1,859 1,947
Deferred income 14 22
Trade payables 49 25
Other payables 30 33

2,083 2,173

(b) Intra-government Balances
 Balances with other central government bodies 30 33
 Balances with local authorities – –
 Balances with NHS bodies – –
 Balances with public corporations & trading funds – –
 Subtotal: intra-government balances 30 33
 Balances with bodies external to government 2,053 2,140

2,083 2,173

Amounts falling due after one year
2013-14 2012-13

£’000 £’000
 Deferred rent 194 210

194 210

10. Movements in working capital other than cash

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

(Increase)/decrease in receivables   218    (186)
Increase/(decrease) in payables  (106)     420
Increase/(decrease) in provisions     (11)     (11)

(101)   222
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11. Financial instruments

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Financial assets
Trade receivables (Note 7) 390 596
Accrued income (Note 7) 550 528
Other receivables (Note 7) 14 18
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 8) 1,745 1,216

2,699 2,358

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Financial liabilities
Other accruals (Note 9) 1,859 1,947
Trade payables (Note 9) 49 25
Other payables (Note 9) 30 33

1,938 2,005

Non-close embedded derivatives £nil £nil

Derivative financial instruments £nil £nil

12. Provisions for liabilities and charges

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 14 25
Provision utilised in year (10) (6)
Provision not required written back (1) (5)
Balance at 31 March 3 14

Payable within 1 year 3 11

Payable over 1 year 0 3
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13. Commitments under operating leases

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are:

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Land and buildings:

Payable not later than 1 year 370 370

Payable later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,652 1,601

Payable later than 5 years 665 1,086
2,687 3,057

14. Third party assets

Assets held at balance sheet date to which monetary value can be assigned:

2013-14 2012-13
£’000 £’000

Sequestration bank balances 31,286 24,307

Third party funds in transit* 141 303

Unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances 19,184 19,686

Total monetary assets 50,611 44,296

These funds are held on behalf of third parties within interest bearing accounts. This mainly 
comprises of realised assets awaiting repayment to the public purse and distribution to 
creditors; also money consigned in respect of unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances. 
These funds are mainly held within Royal Bank of Scotland accounts.

*Third party funds in transit are funds which at the year end had been received but not yet 
allocated to a sequestration account or an account for unclaimed dividends and unapplied 
balances. 
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Other assets held at the balance sheet date:

2013-14 2013-14 2013-14 2012-13

No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets

In-house Agent/Provider Total Total

Residential property 145 1,744 1,889 2,196

Life policies 373 492 865 1,388

Motor vehicles 510 129 639 1,162
Shares and other 
investments 33 121 154 414

Miscellaneous 121 326 447 601

1,182 2,812 3,994 5,761

15. Financial/capital commitments
The Agency has entered into contracts 
(which are not leases or PFI contracts) for 
the maintenance of IT equipment. Under the 
revised definition by the Scottish Government 
of Financial Commitments, effective as from 
1 April 2008, contracts in the normal course 
of business do not require disclosure. 

AiB has capital commitments of £1.1m as at 
31 March 2014. These commitments relate 
to future payments for the development 
of IT systems and have not been reflected 
elsewhere in the accounts. There were no 
contracted capital commitments at 31 March 
2013.

16. Contingent liabilities
Legal advice is being sought by the Agency 
in relation to an issue which may result in a 
claim against the Agency. The information 
usually required by IAS 37: Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
is not disclosed on the grounds that it could 
be expected to prejudice the outcome of any 
subsequent litigation. 

17. Losses statement
Fees charged to sequestration estates not 
able to be recovered amounted to £3.3m 
(2012-13: £3.3m), this is considered a 
‘constructive loss’ in line with the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual’s definition. There 
were no individual cases with a constructive 
loss over £250k (2012-13: nil). There were a 
total of 4,188 cases (2012-13: 3,698 cases) 
which incurred some level of constructive 
loss.

18. Related party transactions
Accountant in Bankruptcy is an Executive 
Agency of the Scottish Government. During 
the year the Agency had various material 
transactions with the Scottish Government.

During the year Accountant in Bankruptcy 
entered into material transactions with 
Money Advice Scotland, providing £200k 
(2012-13: £102k) in funding to deliver training 
and second tier support for the debt advice 
sector. The Chief Executive of Money Advice 
Scotland is Yvonne MacDermid who, since     
17 February 2011, has also been a non-
executive board member of Accountant in 
Bankruptcy.
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19. Payments to suppliers
The Agency complies with the Confederation 
of British Industry prompt payment code and 
is committed to the prompt payment of bills 
for goods and services received. Payments 
are normally made as specified in the 
contract. If there is no contractual provision 
or other understanding, they are due to be 
made within 30 days of the receipt of the 
goods and services, or the presentation of a 
valid invoice or similar demand, whichever is 
later. In 2013-14 the percentage of invoices 
paid on time was 100 per cent (2012-13: 99.2 
per cent).

In line with Scottish Government direction, 
Accountant in Bankruptcy will look to pay all 
suppliers within 10 days. In 2013-14 this was 
achieved 99 per cent of the time (2012-13: 97 
per cent). 

20. Post balance sheet events
There were no significant post balance sheet 
events.

21. Audit
Under the Public Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000, the Auditor General for 
Scotland is responsible for appointing the 
external auditors of the Agency. For the 
years 2011-12 to 2015-16 Audit Scotland 
has been appointed to carry out the Agency 
audit and the notional fee for this service in 
2013-14 was £42k (2012-13: £42k), which 
relates solely to the provision of statutory 
audit services. No payments were made to 
Audit Scotland other than in respect of the 
statutory audit.
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Key Performance Indicators

Appendix A

KPI 1  
Average time taken to notify debtors of bankruptcy awards

This indicator measures the average time 
taken to notify debtors of bankruptcy awards 
on receipt of all relevant information. This 
was 3.3 days, an increase of 0.2 days from 
2012-13, but comfortably within the target 
of 5 days. The increase is due to a natural 
decrease in the number of administrative 
staff being available for this task, as the 
Agency prepares for a new Case Information 
System which will be more automated. 

5
Days

Target

Target

Days
3.3

Actual 

Actual 

KPI 2  
Percentage of cases where a dividend is paid out to creditors

This indicator focuses our efforts and those 
of our contracted providers on maximising 
creditors’ income whilst improving working 
practices to maximise efficiency. The 
percentage of cases where a dividend was 
paid out to creditors increased from 15.3 per 
cent in 2012-13 to 17 per cent in 2013-14. 
This result is in part due to the drive to close 
off aged cases which are now repaying the 
public purse. 

12 17% %
Exceeded

Exceeded
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Target

Target

Actual 

Actual 

20
Days Days

16.5 Exceeded

KPI 3  
Average time taken to determine accounts

This indicator measures the average time 
taken to determine accounts on receipt of 
all relevant information from trustees and 
agents. The average time increased from 9.9 
days in 2012-13 to 16.5 days in 2013-14, but 
still remains well within our target. The 
increase in the average time taken was due to 
fewer resources coupled with an increasing 
number of trustee accounts to be determined. 
The procedure for submitting accounts has 
been tightened up and we have encouraged 
the use of the electronic workbook to improve 
the process.

KPI 4  
Average time taken to notify decisions on Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) 
applications

This indicator measures the average time 
taken to notify debtors of decisions on DAS 
applications on receipt of all relevant 
information. Prompt decisions on DAS 
applications help protect debtors from 
diligence and enable them to set up 
repayments to creditors.

The average time taken in 2013-14 was 2.0 
days, a decrease of 1.3 days from 2012-13. 
This improvement was due to enhancements 
to the Debt Arrangement Scheme Hub (DASH) 
and a dedicated team managing the process, 
working closely with money advisers. 

 

4.5
Days Days

2.0 Exceeded
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KPI 5  
Customer experience

Despite ongoing staffing challenges, during 
2013-14 we secured significant changes 
to bankruptcy laws and implemented 
new systems to support the way debtors, 
creditors, insolvency practitioners and 
other stakeholders interact with AiB. This 
required us to re-think and re-scope options 
we had developed to undertake a robust 
customer experience survey as a baseline 
for improvement. A survey will now therefore 
take place during the course of 2014-15.

KPI 6 
Employee engagement

Employee engagement is a workplace 
approach designed to ensure that employees 
are committed to their organisation’s aims 
and values, motivated to contribute to 
organisational success and able at the same 
time to enhance their own sense of wellbeing. 
AiB takes part in the annual UK Civil Service 
Employee Engagement Survey, which 
measures respondents’ attitudes to their 
work. This allows the Agency to benchmark 
itself against the other 97 participating UK 
Departments and Agencies.

The Agency’s participation rate of 85 per cent 
was very encouraging and compared with 
an overall response rate of 61 per cent. Our 
overall engagement score was four per cent 
lower than the previous year (2012-13: 58 
per cent) and six per cent below the Scottish 
Government engagement score. We responded 
by arranging focus groups and with their help 
we produced and are implementing an 
Employee Engagement Action Plan 2014-15 
to improve our ratings.

60 54 Missed% %

Work in 
Progress

Target Actual 
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£1,676

Target

Target

Actual 

Actual 

Exceeded

KPI 7  
Unit cost of sequestration

This indicator focuses on achieving efficiency 
savings in the use of staff and resources for 
cases where The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
is trustee. This in turn helps us to reduce the 
impact of our service delivery on the public 
purse. The indicator excludes Low Income 
Low Asset cases.

The 2013-14 target was set at the actual unit 
cost achieved in 2012-13. The cost reduction 
in 2013-14 was achieved mainly through the 
procurement of new contracts for services 
such as Insolvency Providers and Legal 
Services, which delivered improved value for 
money. These unit cost savings were achieved 
despite a reduction in case volumes and 
significant costs incurred in closing off older 
complex cases.

KPI 8  
Unit cost of the Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS)

This indicator measures the unit cost of 
processing DAS applications and Debt 
Payment Programmes. The unit cost is the 
gross cost of administering all live DAS cases 
in 2013-14 and does not include contributions 
paid by debtors towards their Debt Payment 
Programmes (DPPs).

The unit cost achieved in 2012-13 was £62 
and the 2013-14 target of £70 remained at the 
same level as last year. There was an increase 
in casework over the last year due to a rise 
in applications, variations and revocations all 
of which resulted in an increase in staffing 
requirements. In light of this additional work 
the target is being reviewed in 2014-15 to 
ensure it is realistic for the expected level of 
casework while reflecting our commitment to 
a high quality of service to our stakeholders.

Missed

£1,591

£70 £76
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The following section provides statistical 
information for 2013-14, including historical 
comparisons with previous years in relation 
to bankruptcies, protected trust deeds 
(PTDs), debt payment programmes (DPPs) 
registered under the Debt Arrangement 
Scheme (DAS) and corporate insolvencies. 
The headline figures are included at Part 1 of 
this document: The Year in Summary.

Bankruptcies awarded
Bankruptcy is the process of legally conveying 
a debtor’s estate to a trustee to realise for 
the benefit of creditors. In 2013-14, a total of 
7,112 bankruptcies were awarded which was 
a decrease of 19.5 per cent on the previous 
year. This is the fifth consecutive year where 
the number of bankruptcies has fallen as 
demonstrated in the following table. This shows 
the number of bankruptcies awarded since 
2008-09 and the percentage change from the 
previous year:

Statistical Information

Appendix B

Bankruptcies awarded 2008-09 to 2013-14 

Year Bankruptcies 
awarded % Change

2008-09 14,777 +140.0%
2009-10 13,810 -6.5%
2010-11 11,443 -17.1%
2011-12 11,056 -3.4%
2012-13 8,838 -20.1%
2013-14 7,112 -19.5%

Note that in 2008-09 revised legislation was introduced 
which widened access to bankruptcy and this resulted 
in a significant increase in the number of bankruptcies 
awarded.

Bankruptcies awarded by petition type
The route into bankruptcy can be categorised 
as follows:

• Debtor applications – applications made by 
the debtors themselves to the Accountant 
in Bankruptcy.

• Creditor petitions – applications to the 
court by a creditor to pursue the 
sequestration of a debtor.

• Trustee petitions – applications where the 
trustee under a trust deed has applied to 
the court for the debtor’s sequestration as 
the trust deed has failed.
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The following table shows the number of bankruptcies awarded broken down into the 
aforementioned routes during 2013-14 and the equivalent totals from the previous year, with 
the percentage change:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change

Awards of 
bankruptcy by 
petition type

Debtor 
applications 5,740 7,338 -21.8%
Creditor 
petitions 1,328 1,391 -4.5%
Trustee 
petitions 44 109 -59.6%

Total awards 7,112 8,838 -19.5%

The figures above show that all three routes experienced a drop in 2013-14; debtor 
applications by 21.8 per cent, creditor petitions by 4.5 per cent and trustee petitions by 59.6 
per cent.

The above figures show that in 2013-14, 81 per cent of bankruptcies awarded were through 
the debtor application route, 19 per cent through creditor petitions and 1 per cent from trustee 
petitions. Equivalent percentage figures for previous years to 2008-09 are in the chart below: 

Bankruptcies awarded by petition type 2008-09 to 2013-14

Please note that totals may not sum to 100 per cent due to rounding.

Debtor applications Creditor petitions Trustee petitions
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Distribution of trustee appointments in bankruptcy awards in 2013-14
The tables below show the distribution of trustee appointments in bankruptcy awards in     
2013-14 with the corresponding figure from the previous year and the percentage change. The 
first table relates to cases where AiB have been appointed the trustee, while the second table 
relates to cases where an Insolvency Practitioner (IP) was the nominated trustee.

 
Appointment of trustee: the Accountant in Bankruptcy

Appointments arising from: 2013-14 2012-13 % Change

Debtor applications – AiB as trustee 4,026 5,249 -23.3%

Creditor petitions – AiB as trustee 1,036 1,092 -5.1%
Trustees petitions – AiB as trustee 28 76 -63.2%
Total 5,090 6,417 -20.7%

Hence AiB was the trustee in 5,090 bankruptcy awards, which is 71.6 per cent of the total. This 
is down from 72.6 per cent of the total in 2012-13.

 
Appointment of trustee: insolvency practitioners (IPs)

Appointments arising from: 2013-14 2012-13 % Change

Debtor applications – IP as trustee 1,714 2,089 -18.0%

Creditor petitions – IP as trustee 292 299 -2.3%

Trustees petitions – IP as trustee 16 33 -51.5%

Total 2,022 2,421 -16.5%

An IP was the nominated trustee in 2,022 bankruptcy awards which is 28.4 per cent of the 
total. This is a slightly higher proportion than in 2012-13 when 27.4 per cent of the total 
awards had a nominated IP as trustee.

The following chart shows the distribution of trustee appointments as a percentage of the 
total awards and confirms that in 2013-14, 57 per cent of the bankruptcy awards were debtor 
applications with AiB as the trustee while 24 per cent were debtor applications with an IP as 
the trustee.
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* Please note there were 28 awards (0.4 per cent) made from trust deed petitions with AiB as the trustee and  
16 awards (0.2 per cent) made from trust deed petitions with an IP as the trustee. However both figures are shown as 0 per cent 
in the above chart due to rounding. 

Debtor applications received by AiB in 2013-14
In 2013-14, a total of 5,939 debtor applications were received which is a 22.1 per cent decrease 
from the previous year. Further details are in the table below:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Debtor applications received 5,939 7,624 -22.1%

Debtor applications returned 24 110 -78.2%

Rejections 127 201 -36.8%

Bankruptcy awards by debtor applications in 2013-14 

Distribution of trustee appointments in bankruptcy awards 2013-14

In 2013-14, the number of bankruptcy awards by debtor application reduced by 21.8 per cent to 
5,740. Further information is in the following table:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change

Bankruptcy awards

Apparent insolvency criteria 766 1,059 -27.7%

Low income low asset (LILA) criteria 2,737 3,481 -21.4%

Certificate for sequestration criteria 2,237 2,798 -20.1%

Total awards (Debtor applications) 5,740 7,338 -21.8%

The information above shows a 27.7 per cent decrease in bankruptcy awards under the apparent 
insolvency criteria and a reduction of 21.4 per cent in awards made under the LILA criteria. Awards 
under the Certificate for Sequestration criteria decreased by 20.1 per cent.

Debtor applications – AiB as trustee

Creditor petitions – AiB as trustee

Trustee under trust deeds – AiB as trustee*

Debtor applications – IP as trustee

Debtor applications – AiB as trustee

Trustees under trust deeds – IP as trustee*
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Apparent Insolvency LILA Certificate for Sequestration

Please note Certificate for Sequestration was introduced in November 2010. Totals may not sum to 100 per cent 
due to rounding.

The chart below shows bankruptcies awarded by debtor application type as a proportion of the 
total for the years 2008-09 to 2013-14:

Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings
Bankruptcy Restrictions Orders (BROs) and Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertakings (BRUs) 
were introduced by The Bankruptcy and Diligence etc. (Scotland) Act 2007 and came in to force 
on 1 April 2008. 

These measures provide a level of protection to businesses and consumers to make debtors 
accountable where there has been a level of misconduct by the debtor either before or after 
the date of bankruptcy. BRUs are agreed with the cooperation of a debtor whilst BROs require 
an application through the court. 

Bankruptcies awarded by debtor application type 2008-09 to 2013-14
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The table below shows the number and breakdown for 2013-14 and a comparison with the 
previous year’s volumes:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
BRUs accepted 29 32 -9.4%

BROs granted 23 8 187.5%

Interim BROs granted 1 1 0.0%

BRO applications pending at year end 52 67 -22.4%

The above table shows that the number of BRUs accepted in 2013-14 decreased by 9.4 per 
cent, while the number BROs granted almost tripled to 23. At the end of 2013-14, the number 
of BRO applications pending was 52 which is more than a fifth lower than at the end of the 
previous year.

Bankruptcy awards by local authority area in 2013-14
The number of bankruptcies awarded can be broken down by local authority, based on the 
applicant’s postcode. Using the estimated working age population of each local authority, 
the number of bankruptcies per 10,000 working age people can be calculated, providing 
a representative picture of the concentration of bankruptcies in Scotland. Working age1 
population estimates for each local authority are taken from the National Records of Scotland 
2012 mid-year estimates. The corresponding published figures for 2012-13 and 2011-12 are 
also provided for comparison.

1  Working age people are defined as those aged between 16 and 64.

 

 

 

 

Bankruptcy rate per 10,000 working age population – 2013-14
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Local authority

Bankruptcies per
10,000 Working

Age Population in 
2013-14

Bankruptcies per
10,000 Working

Age Population in 
2012-13

Bankruptcies per
10,000 Working

Age Population in 
2011-12

Aberdeen City 15.4 19.2 25.3
Aberdeenshire 11.4 16.4 19.6
Angus 20.4 26.3 31.3
Argyll & Bute 18.8 18.6 27.4
Clackmannanshire 24.8 27.8 17.2
Dumfries & Galloway 21.9 28.7 31.1
Dundee City 31.9 43.3 29.8
East Ayrshire 20.2 25.2 40.6
East Dunbartonshire 11.6 17.0 34.8
East Lothian 23.8 20.7 18.3
East Renfrewshire 15.7 22.2 37.3
Edinburgh, City of 12.2 15.0 23.3
Eilean Siar 9.0 25.6 22.4
Falkirk 23.3 33.5 39.1
Fife 26.4 33.4 43.6
Glasgow City 20.2 26.3 29.3
Highland 19.2 27.3 34.7
Inverclyde 18.6 24.7 31.3
Midlothian 19.3 25.4 34.8
Moray 16.7 29.6 31.6
North Ayrshire 28.3 35.1 45.8
North Lanarkshire 21.9 32.3 36.1
Orkney Islands 7.4 18.1 17.4
Perth & Kinross 15.9 18.9 25.1
Renfrewshire 26.1 31.9 34.2
Scottish Borders 15.6 23.0 27.4
Shetland Islands 12.9 10.4 14.0
South Ayrshire 16.7 18.8 24.4
South Lanarkshire 26.3 35.1 42.0
Stirling 15.1 22.9 26.5
West Dunbartonshire 46.8 67.4 58.2
West Lothian 24.5 34.4 47.5
Scotland 20.3 26.9 31.6
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Bankruptcies in 2013-14 per 10,000 working age population
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Bankruptcies discharged
Since 1 April 2008, a debtor is discharged from their bankruptcy, in the majority of cases, after 
one year.

In 2013-14, a total of 7,624 bankruptcies were discharged which was a decrease of 7.5 per cent 
on the previous year. The following table shows the number of bankruptcies discharged since 
2008-09 and the percentage change from the previous year:

Bankruptcies discharged 2008-09 to 2013-14

Year Bankruptcies discharged % Change

2008-09 5,748 61.1%
2009-102 15,764 174.3%
2010-11 16,887 7.1%
2011-12 12,106 -28.3%
2012-13 8,243 -31.9%
2013-14 7,624 -7.5%

Although discharge may occur after one year, a discharged case may remain in administration 
for the purpose of realising assets or ingathering contributions from a debtor for the benefit of 
creditors.2

When the trustee in a bankruptcy is discharged, any funds gathered in respect of debts 
are divided among the creditors depending on the type of debt included in the bankruptcy. 
Secured debt is that which is backed by some form of collateral which would be considered 
as a security should default of payment occur, for example, secured debt over property. 
Preferred debt is payable before ordinary and postponed debts in a bankruptcy, trust deed, 
or the winding up of a company. It should be noted however that the protected status of many 
preferred creditors was abolished following revisions to the legislation in September 2003. 
Ordinary debt is any other type that is not preferred or secured. Awards concluded during 
2013-14 and the dividend outcome of the discharged cases are set out in the following table:

2  The reduction in time from award to discharge is reflected through the rise in discharges in 2009-10 as this was the first 
year that one year discharge cases were processed.



Annual Report and Accounts 
2013-14

71

2013-14 2012-13 % Change

In dependence at start of year (live cases) 22,221 21,700 2.4%

New awards 7,112 8,838 -19.5%

Total 29,333 30,538 -3.9%

Less:

Recalls/Disposals/Discharges (49) (74) -33.8%

Bankruptcies concluded by discharge of the 
permanent trustee in which:

No dividend was payable to creditors

Dividend payable to preferred creditors only

Dividend payable to ordinary creditors

(4,079)

(4)

(879)

(4,139)

(3)

(894)

-1.4%

33.3%

-1.7%

Discharged LILA cases (2,662) (3,207) -17.0%

Total concluded (7,673) (8,317) -7.7%

Cases in dependence at 31 March 21,660 22,221 -2.5%
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Division of funds in bankruptcy cases 2013-14

Of the bankruptcies concluded by 
discharge of the permanent trustee, 
82.3 per cent resulted in no dividend 
payable to creditors, while 17.7 per 
cent resulted in a dividend payable to 
ordinary creditors. This includes cases 
where a dividend could be payable 
and therefore excludes LILA cases. If 
we include all bankruptcy cases that 
concluded in 2013-14, including LILA 
cases, a dividend was paid to ordinary 
creditors in 11.5 per cent of the cases.

17.7%

82.3%

Dividend was payable to ordinary creditors

No dividend was payable to creditors
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Results of bankruptcies wound up by division of funds following the trustee’s discharge 
during 2013-14
The following table shows details of the 883 cases wound up by the division of funds following 
a trustee’s discharge during 2013-14:

Dividend payable to: 2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Preferred creditors only 4 3 33.3%
Ordinary creditors
  Less than 25p per £ 462 409 13.0%
  Between 25p and 50p per £ 107 126 -15.1%
  Between 50p and 75p per £ 64 69 -7.2%
  Between 75p and 99p per £ 40 49 -18.4%
  100p per £ plus interest 206 241 -14.5%
  Sub Total 879 894 -1.7%
Total 883 897 -1.6%

For cases where a dividend was payable to ordinary creditors, the figures can also be broken 
down into a percentage split as follows:

Proportion split for cases with a dividend payable to ordinary creditors 2013-14

The above shows that 52.6 per cent of dividends to ordinary creditors were paid at less than 
25 pence in the pound which is an increase on the previous year’s figure of 45.7 per cent. 
This also shows that 23.4 per cent of dividends were paid at 100 pence in the pound which 
compares with 27.0 per cent in 2012-13.

24.3%

52.6%
4.6%

7.3%

12.2%

100p per £ plus interest

Less than 25p per £

Between 25p and 50p per £

Between 50p and 75p per £

Between 75p and 99p per £
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The Accountant in Bankruptcy may not seek her appointment as trustee in bankruptcies in 
Scotland, but by default, or specific nomination by creditors, she was appointed as trustee in 
72 per cent of bankruptcies awarded in Scotland in 2013-14.

Appointment by default means she is regularly appointed as trustee in bankruptcies where 
the debtor has few or no assets or income from which sufficient funds can be in-gathered to 
enable a dividend is paid to creditors. The AiB is automatically trustee in all low income low 
asset (LILA) cases.

The table below compares the outcome of bankruptcy cases when the permanent trustee was 
discharged and the distribution of dividends payable to preferred or ordinary creditors:

Comparison of dividend outcomes between private sector trustees and AiB when acting as 
a trustee 2013-14

Private sector trustees AiB as trustee

2013-14 2012-13 2013-14 2012-13

Cases concluded by permanent 
trustee discharge 1,004 1,041 3,958 3,995
Cases concluded with dividend 
payable to preferred or ordinary 
creditors

205  
(20%)

264  
(25%)

678  
(17%)

633  
(16%)

Cases concluded with no 
dividend to any class of creditor

799  
(80%)

777  
(75%) 3,280 (83%)

3,362  
(84%)

Average dividend 16.5p in £ 22.2p in £ 29.2p in £ 30.3p in £

The table shows that, in percentage terms, there has been no significant change in the 
amount of cases where a dividend was paid to preferred or ordinary creditors, where AiB was 
the trustee. However there has been a decrease of 5 percentage points for cases with a private 
sector trustee.

In both AiB and private sector trustee cases, the average dividend value has reduced in 2013-14, 
although the reduction is more significant for private sector trustee cases. Please note that 
dividends are affected by the realised value of assets which, in turn, are affected by economic 
conditions.

The trend of the number (and percentage) of cases concluded with no dividend and the 
number (and percentage) of cases concluded with a dividend, broken down by private sector 
and AiB as trustees, is shown in the following chart:
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Contracted out insolvency services
The Insolvency Services Framework allows The Accountant in Bankruptcy to use external 
providers to administer bankruptcy cases on her behalf, where she has been appointed 
trustee. The following tables provide information for 2013-14 on these bankruptcy cases:

Contracted out case totals 2013-14

2013-14 2012-13 % Change

Total cases allocated 2,973 3,003 -1.0%

Total cases discharged 2,348 2,467 -4.8%

Total cases with assets realised 1,013 994 1.9%

% of cases with assets realised 43.1% 40.3% – 

The above table shows that a total of 2,973 cases were contracted out and 2,348 contracted 
out cases were discharged in 2013-14. Of these, 1,013 (43.1 per cent) were cases with assets 
realised. This compares with 40.3 per cent in 2012-13.

Distribution of dividends payable in bankruptcy cases 2010-11 to 2013-14
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Further information on these cases including the value of the assets realised and the 
expenses on realisation are in the tables below:

Breakdown of assets realised in discharged contracted out cases 2013-14

Asset type Value % of Total
Total heritage £5,314,098 60.2%
Total moveable £266,485 3.0%
Total ingathered funds £2,024,273 22.9%
Total ingathered contributions £1,221,007 13.8%
Total value of assets realised £8,825,863 100.0%

Breakdown of expenses of realisation on discharged contacted out cases 2013-14

Expense type Value % of Total
Total heritage £219,537 9.7%
Total secured £1,965,130 87.3%
Total moveable £59,184 2.6%
Total miscellaneous £8,418 0.4%
Total expenses £2,252,269 100.0%

This shows that the assets realised on these cases had a total of over £8.8 million. Heritable 
assets – which are properties in the form of land, houses, and buildings that become heritable 
by accession – made up 60.2 per cent of this total, while funds ingathered made up 22.9 per 
cent. Contributions ingathered accounted for 13.8 per cent of the total.

The total expenses of realisation were approximately £2.3 million, the majority of which was 
made up of expenses on secured assets.

Protected trust deeds (PTDs) registered
In 2013-14, a total of 6,681 PTDs were registered which was an 18.3 per cent decrease from 
the previous year’s total. The following table shows the number of PTDs registered since  
2008-09 and the percentage change from the previous year: 

PTDs registered 2008-09 to 2013-14

Year PTDs registered % Change
2008-09 7,633 1.7%
2009-10 9,188 20.4%
2010-11 7,980 -13.1%

2011-12 9,194 15.2%
2012-13 8,177 -11.1%
2013-14 6,681 -18.3%
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PTDs registered by local authority area in 2013-14
By using the postcode information recorded for each PTD registered, the number of PTDs 
registered by 10,000 working age population can be estimated using the working age 
population estimates for each local authority from the National Records of Scotland 2012 
mid-year estimates. The corresponding published figures for 2012-13 and 2011-12 are also 
provided for comparison.
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Local authority

Bankruptcies per
10,000 working

age population in 
2013-14

Bankruptcies per
10,000 working

age population in 
2012-13

Bankruptcies per
10,000 working

age population in 
2011-12

Aberdeen City 13.0 14.7 15.4
Aberdeenshire 10.6 15.1 19.1
Angus 16.5 23.7 28.0
Argyll & Bute 15.7 22.1 25.0
Clackmannanshire 27.5 33.9 14.3
Dumfries & Galloway 13.0 16.8 36.6
Dundee City 13.6 22.0 22.2
East Ayrshire 28.6 34.5 22.1
East Dunbartonshire 15.9 21.6 33.9
East Lothian 18.6 28.5 19.7
East Renfrewshire 11.7 17.3 28.1
Edinburgh, City of 11.3 13.7 23.0
Eilean Siar 7.2 15.6 15.5
Falkirk 26.5 28.6 35.6
Fife 19.6 25.9 28.1
Glasgow City 21.6 27.7 29.8
Highland 16.5 19.7 21.2
Inverclyde 21.3 27.7 23.0
Midlothian 24.3 31.8 32.5
Moray 12.0 18.7 21.0
North Ayrshire 22.1 29.2 37.5
North Lanarkshire 28.5 35.2 38.1
Orkney Islands 5.9 11.8 3.9
Perth & Kinross 16.1 21.8 19.6
Renfrewshire 27.7 39.5 32.1
Scottish Borders 14.9 17.0 19.5
Shetland Islands 10.2 12.5 11.9
South Ayrshire 20.4 31.3 31.0
South Lanarkshire 27.7 34.1 39.2
Stirling 19.3 19.2 20.3
West Dunbartonshire 27.9 37.5 35.0
West Lothian 25.9 34.4 38.2
Scotland 19.3 25.0 26.6
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PTDs registered in 2013-14 per 10,000 working age population
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Protected trust deeds (PTDs) discharged
In 2013-14, a total of 6,787 PTDs were discharged which was an increase of 27.3 per cent on 
the previous year.

The following table shows the number of PTDs discharged since 2008-09 and the percentage 
change from the previous year:

Year PTDs registered % Change
2008-09 6,166 -1.3%
2009-10 6,944 12.6%
2010-11 7,387 6.4%
2011-12 5,428 -26.5%
2012-13 5,332 -1.8%
2013-14 6,787 27.3%

The table below shows the performance of PTDs in relation to cases that have been 
discharged during 2013-14 and the comparative performance in the previous year:

PTDs registered and concluded as at 31 March 2014 in terms of Schedule 5 of the 
Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Number of PTDs recorded in the Register of 
Insolvencies up to 31 March *36,272 33,577  8.0%
PTDs registered during the year 6,681 8,177 -18.3%
Less concluded
PTDs where no dividend payable to ordinary 
creditors (2,019) (1,892) 6.7%
PTDs where dividend payable to ordinary 
creditors (4,768) (3,440) 39.0%
Total concluded (6,787) (5,332) 27.3%
PTDs remaining open on 31 March 36,166 36,422    -0.7%

* This figure has reduced from the live load total recorded at the end of 2012-13 as there are delays in reporting and recording 
the Form 7 and Form 11 returns at the end of a PTD. As a result, a proportion of PTDs that ended in 2012-13 were not 
recorded until 2013-14.

The previous table shows that in 2013-14, 29.7 per cent of cases were closed with no dividend 
payable to creditors. This is lower than the previous year’s figure of 35.5 per cent, which 
means an increased proportion of PTDs concluded with a dividend payable to creditors in 
2013-14.
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The chart below shows this trend from PTDs concluded from 2010-11 to 2013-14:

Distribution of dividends payable in PTDs concluded 2010-11 to 2013-14
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The aforementioned figures can be broken down into further detail as follows:

PTDs concluded during 2013-14 where a dividend is payable to ordinary creditors

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Number of cases concluded where 
dividend is payable 4,768 3,440 38.6%
Total receipts £59,548,362 £40,437,098 47.3%
Administration expenses £34,657,658 £21,466,515 61.4%
Payable to creditors:

      Secured creditors

      Preferred creditors

      Ordinary creditors

      Total payable to creditors

£124,770

£7,067

£24,758,867

£24,890,704

£778,742

£179,504

£18,012,337

£18,970,583

-84.0%

-96.1%

37.5%

31.2%

Total sum allocated £59,548,362 £40,437,098 47.3%

The above table shows the distribution of funds collated and allocated at the discharge of the 
trustee of a PTD in 2013-14 and the corresponding figures for the previous year. This shows 
that a total of £59.5 million was ingathered during 2013-14 which was a 47.3 per cent increase 
on the total receipts for the previous year. A breakdown of these receipts, in percentage terms, 
is shown in the following table:

2013-14 2012-13
Administration expenses 58.2% 53.1%
Paid to creditors 41.8% 46.9%
Total 100.0% 100.0%

Hence 58.2 per cent of the total receipts was allocated towards administration cost which is an 
increase on the previous year. 
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Using the aforementioned figures allows the average administration cost of a PTD which 
concluded with a dividend payable to be calculated as follows:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Average administration cost £7,269 £6,240 16.5%

Hence the average administration cost of a PTD which concluded with a dividend payable 
increased by 16.5 per cent to £7,269.

PTDs concluded during 2013-14 where a dividend is payable to ordinary creditors – 
distribution of receipts

Paid to creditors

Administration expenses

41.8%

58.2%
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PTDs concluded during 2013-14 where no dividend is payable to ordinary creditors

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Number of cases concluded with no payment of 
a dividend to ordinary creditors 2,019 1,892 8.7%
Total receipts £9,053,646 £6,077,330 49.0%
Administration expenses £8,724,827 £6,043,204 44.4%
Payable to creditors:

      Secured creditors

      Preferred creditors

Total payable to creditors

£282,970

£45,849

£328,819

£18,465

£15,661

£34,126

1,432.5%

192.8%

863.5%
Total sum distributed £9,053,646 £6,077,330 49.0%

The above table shows the distribution of funds collated and allocated at the discharge of 
the trustee of a PTD where no dividend was payable to ordinary creditors. This shows that in    
2013-14, just under £9.1 million was ingathered for these type of cases which was an increase 
of 49.0 per cent on the total receipts for the previous year. Sums payable to creditors were 
almost ten times greater than the previous year at just under £0.3 million.

A breakdown of the receipts, in percentage terms, for these cases is shown in the table below:

2013-14 2012-13

Administration expenses 96.4% 99.4%

Paid to creditors 3.6% 0.6%

Total 100.0% 100.0%

Using the above figures allows the average administration cost of a PTD which concluded with 
no dividend payable to be calculated as follows:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Average administration cost £4,321 £3,194 35.3%

Hence the average administration cost of a PTD which concluded with no dividend payable 
increased by 35.3 per cent to £4,321.
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Average dividend payable in PTDs concluded during the year for cases where 
a dividend was paid
The average dividend payable for the 4,768 PTDs concluded during 2013-14 where there was a 
dividend paid was 20.0p. The following table shows the equivalent figure for previous years:

Year Average dividend of PTDs
2008-09 17.6p

2009-10 15.7p
2010-11 16.2p
2011-12 17.2p
2012-13 19.7p
2013-14 20.0p

This trend can also be charted as follows:

Average PTD dividend payable 2008-09 to 2013-14

The trend of dividends payable has increased steadily since 2009-10, although the rate of 
increase has dropped off in 2013-14. However, the figure of 20.0p in 2013-14 is the highest of 
this time period.
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PTD Form 7 & 11 performance – summary by company 2013-14
The Form 7 and Form 11 returns detail the trustee’s actual statement of realisation and 
distribution of estate under a protected trust deed. The following tables summarise the 
performance of trustees in this regard.

The information contained within these tables includes protected trust deeds which have failed 
and led to the subsequent sequestration of the debtor. The calculation of the average dividend 
takes into account all cases that completed in 2013-14, including those where no dividend was 
paid to creditors.

The percentage of cases where administration costs have increased by 25 per cent or more 
includes protected trust deeds where there has been increased complexity or a lack of co-
operation from the debtor, requiring the trustee to commit more time to the administration of 
these cases.

The recovery of Payment Protection Insurance (PPI) can have a significant impact on the 
outcome of a PTD. As individual firms may be at different stages in the PPI recovery process, 
some results may not yet fully reflect the benefits where PPI recovery action remains ongoing.

These statistics are based on a minimum qualifying number of 25 PTDs.
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PTD Form 7 performance – summary by company 2013-14
The table below shows the performance of trustees in cases where the trust deed was 
protected from 1 April 2008 onwards:

Note the above statistics are based on a minimum qualifying number of 25 PTDs.

Company Number  
of PTDs

Average
estimated
dividend
(Form 3)

Average
actual

dividend
paid

(Form 7)

Average
dividend
variance

Number
of cases
where
zero

dividend
paid

% Cases
where
zero

dividend
paid

% Cases
with

admin
costs

increased
by 25%+

Carrington Dean 1,403 14.1 13.8 -3% 170 12% 42%

Wilson Andrews 724 13.0 19.5 50% 88 12% 27%

Begbies Traynor 656 14.5 15.4 6% 314 48% 56%

Creditfix 356 20.7 11.1 -46% 128 36% 47%

Invocas 268 14.3 5.1 -64% 191 71% 67%

A G Taggart 248 14.1 21.4 52% 44 18% 7%

BDO 235 11.8 10.2 -13% 29 12% 32%

KPMG 215 14.1 9.9 -30% 171 80% 5%

Campbell Dallas 166 14.2 12.1 -15% 35 21% 55%

French Duncan 153 18.8 20.2 7% 9 6% 57%

Wylie & Bisset 120 15.0 10.5 -30% 47 39% 17%

Stirling Toner 118 14.7 14.9 1% 13 11% 76%

AMI 117 9.1 8.9 -2% 31 26% 26%

WRI Associates 107 17.9 18.0 1% 18 17% 8%

MLM 96 16.0 12.0 -25% 28 29% 64%

Philip Gill & Co 73 20.3 14.1 -31% 5 7% 68%

Grant Thornton 70 18.6 22.4 21% 18 26% 23%

Thomson Cooper 70 19.1 25.4 33% 8 11% 31%

KLM 58 24.1 14.5 -40% 20 34% 21%

Cowan & Partners 57 19.0 12.9 -32% 14 25% 77%

Mazars 42 13.4 3.0 -77% 35 83% 2%

Findlay Hamilton 36 19.0 11.2 -41% 12 33% 75%

Apex 28 16.5 22.4 36% 13 46% 11%

Henderson Loggie 27 19.0 14.0 -27% 12 44% 63%

Ritson Young 25 16.9 11.0 -35% 3 12% 8%
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PTD Form 11 performance – summary by company 2013-14
The table below shows the performance of trustees in cases where the trust deed was 
protected prior to 1 April 2008:

Balance of funds consigned
Consignations are unallocated funds at the end of a bankruptcy or a trust deed. These can 
be in the form of dividends that the trustee has been unable to pay to a creditor, funds that 
are due to be reverted to the debtor but the trustee has been unable to pay or in some trust 
deeds or bankruptcies there may have been such a small amount of funds ingathered that it is 
uneconomical to pay a dividend. These monies are consigned as an unapplied balance.

In 2009-10 we migrated the majority of our records onto our electronic case management 
system to improve identification of the ownership of these funds. We are continuing in our 
attempt to reduce the flow of consignations reaching AiB and £3.8 million was received in 
2013-14 compared with £3.7 million in 2012-13. We will continue discussions with creditors 
and trustees to look at ways of further reducing the flow of consignations.

Note the above statistics are based on a minimum qualifying number of 25 PTDs.

Company Number  
of PTDs

Average
Actual 

Dividend 
Paid Form 11 

(p in the £)

Number of 
Cases where 
Zero Dividend 

Paid

% Cases 
where Zero 

Dividend Paid

Begbies Traynor 315 9.1 191 61%
Wilson Andrews 135 30.8 3 2%
Invocas 132 6.0 97 73%
KPMG 95 14.1 38 40%
French Duncan 69 17.0 6 9%
Stirling Toner 49 5.0 18 37%
Findlay Hamilton 36 13.2 4 11%
BDO 33 4.1 10 30%
MLM 29 21.5 6 21%
Campbell Dallas 27 7.0 6 22%
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The table below shows the totals from 2006-07 to 2013-14 and the percentage change each 
year:

Year Balance of funds consigned 
(£’000) % Change

2006-07 8,501
2007-08 11,526 35.6%
2008-09 17,322 50.3%
2009-10 20,843 20.3%
2010-11 21,026 0.9%
2011-12 20,392 -3.0%
2012-13 19,686 -3.5%
2013-14 19,184 -2.6%

Overall, in 2013-14, consignation balances fell by 2.6 per cent, continuing recent years’ trend 
whereby more money has been uplifted than was consigned. The following chart shows the 
trend in balance of funds consigned between 2006-07 and 2013-14:
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Balance of funds consigned 2006-07 to 2013-14

Liquidations and receiverships
The total number of receiverships and liquidations recorded in the Register of Insolvencies 
(ROI) during 2013-14 was 925. This was 9.5 per cent lower than the total recorded in the 
previous year. Further details are in the table below:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Receiverships 10 31 -67.7%
Compulsory liquidations 602 714 -15.7%
Creditors’ voluntary liquidations 313 277 13.0%
Total recorded receiverships and 
liquidations 925 1,022 -9.5%

The most notable decrease was the fall in receiverships which fell by more than two thirds in 
2013-14.

It is important to note that the Register of Insolvencies (ROI) does not contain information on 
corporate administrations in Scotland as they are a reserved matter. This means they are not 
included in the corporate insolvency statistics produced by AiB. However, the UK Insolvency 
Service do report these statistics on a quarterly basis and further information can be found 
on their website at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/insolvency-service-official-
statistics (Table 5 on the UK Insolvency Service statistics page contains information on 
Receiverships, Administrations and Company Voluntary Arrangements in Scotland).

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/insolvency-service-official-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/insolvency-service-official-statistics
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Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) 

Debt Arrangement Scheme debt payment programmes
In 2013-14, a total of 4,5803 DAS debt payment programme (DPP) applications were approved 
which was a slight (1.1 per cent) decrease on the previous year. Further details are in the 
following table.

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
DPP applications received 4,856 4,574 6.2%
DPPs rejected (261) (157) 66.2%
DPPs awaiting decision 91 10 810.0%
Sub total 4,504 4,407 2.2%
DPPs approved 4,580 4,632 -1.1%
Which includes:

    joint DPPs approved

    single-debt DPPs approved         

913

191

827

195

10.4%

-2.1%
Completed DPPs 517 151 242.4%
Total value of debts included in DPPs £241.7 

million
£196.1 
million

23.2%

Total repaid through DAS £30.0 
million

£23.2 
million

28.9%

The above table shows that the debt included in DPPs has risen from £196.1 million to        
£241.7 million by 31 March 2014. In 2013-14, a total of £30.0 million was repaid through DAS 
which is an increase of 28.9 per cent on the previous year.

2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

DPPs approved 442 908 1,417 1,910 3,319 4,632 4,580
Annual growth 346.5% 105.4% 56.1% 34.8% 73.8% 39.6% -1.1%

This shows that after a long period of significant growth in the number of approved DPPs, 
the volume in 2013-14 has remained stable. The trend from 2007-08 to 2013-14 can also be 
illustrated in the following chart:

3  Note this is an additional five from the originally published figure in the quarterly insolvency statistics release. This        
amendment is due to a system error (which meant these cases had not been originally counted in the IT report used).
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Applications to vary a debt payment programme
If a debtor’s circumstances change and they can no longer afford the agreed payments, 
or if they want to increase the level of payment, they can apply for a variation to their DPP.  
Variation can result in one or more of a number of changes:

• the amount paid to creditors might be increased

• the amount paid to creditors might be reduced

• the length of the DPP might be reduced

• the length of the DPP might be increased

• a new condition might be attached to the DPP

In 2013-14, there were 2,381 approved applications to vary a DPP which was 10.4 per cent 
higher than the previous year. This is equal to 19.3 per cent of live DAS cases. Further 
information is in the following table.

Total approved DAS DPPs 2007-08 to 2013-14
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2013-14 2012-134 % Change
Number of applications approved 2,381 2,157 10.4%
Number of applications rejected 156 96 62.5%
Total 2,537 2,253 12.6%
Approved applications to vary a DPP as a 
percentage of live DAS cases* 19.3% 23.1% n/a

* Note this calculation is based on the average number of live DAS cases in the year.4

Applications to revoke a debt payment programme
A DPP is automatically revoked if the debtor applies and is made bankrupt or enters a trust 
deed which becomes protected. There are also a number of grounds where the debtor, a 
money adviser acting on behalf of the debtor or a creditor in the DPP can apply to revoke a 
DPP, including where:

• a debtor has failed to satisfy the conditions of the DPP

• the debtor has missed two payments and the third is due

• the debtor has made an untrue statement when applying for DAS or variations to their DPP

• the parties involved in a joint DPP have separated

The number of approved applications to revoke a DPP increased by 38.1 per cent in 2013-14 to 
1,400. This total number of approved applications is equal to 11.4 per cent of live DAS cases. 
Further details are in the table below:

2013-14 2012-13 % Change
Number of applications approved 1,400 1,014 38.1%
Number of applications rejected 958 792 21.0%
Total 2,358 1,806 30.6%
Approved applications to revoke a DPP as a 
percentage of live DAS cases* 11.4% 10.8% n/a

* Note this calculation is based on the average number of live DAS cases in the year.

4  The figures for 2012-13 have been revised following data and reporting improvements within the DAS system.
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Debt payment programmes (DPPs) by local authority area in 2013-14
The number of DPPs can also be broken down by local authority, using the applicant’s 
postcode. Using the estimated working age population of each local authority, the number 
of DPPs per 10,000 working age people can be estimated. Working age population estimates 
for each local authority are taken from the National Records of Scotland 2012 mid-year 
estimates. The corresponding published figures from 2011-12 and 2012-13 are also provided 
for comparison. 

DAS rate per 10,000 working age population – 2013-14
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Local authority

DPPs per 10,000
working age
population in 

2013-14

DPPs per 10,000
working age
population in      

2012-13

DPPs per 10,000
working Age
population in 

2011-12

Aberdeen City 7.1 10.0 5.8
Aberdeenshire 7.1 7.3 7.6
Angus 10.3 11.1 8.9
Argyll & Bute 11.4 15.1 8.3
Clackmannanshire 11.8 12.4 4.4
Dumfries & Galloway 11.9 12.8 9.1
Dundee City 10.6 11.7 11.2
East Ayrshire 14.8 15.7 4.3
East Dunbartonshire 13.0 12.2 9.5
East Lothian 13.9 12.5 13.9
East Renfrewshire 17.3 17.3 11.0
Edinburgh, City of 7.2 6.5 9.3
Eilean Siar 10.8 8.1 7.5
Falkirk 15.5 17.5 11.2
Fife 17.1 18.5 16.8
Glasgow City 10.3 10.7 6.9
Highland 11.8 14.0 7.0
Inverclyde 24.4 22.8 19.6
Midlothian 14.2 16.7 9.8
Moray 14.2 19.8 7.9
North Ayrshire 16.2 19.3 16.0
North Lanarkshire 22.6 23.5 14.8
Orkney Islands 3.7 3.9 3.2
Perth & Kinross 11.3 13.2 7.5
Renfrewshire 15.8 15.4 13.0
Scottish Borders 9.3 8.0 5.0
Shetland Islands 4.1 9.0 2.8
South Ayrshire 10.3 8.9 4.3
South Lanarkshire 20.1 19.8 13.0
Stirling 13.0 15.1 9.1
West Dunbartonshire 26.3 25.3 16.3
West Lothian 14.4 14.1 8.1
Scotland 13.2 13.9 9.5
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DAS DPPs in 2013-14 per 10,000 working age population
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Bankruptcy – A general term which can be 
used to refer to personal insolvency generally 
or the process of sequestration.

Bankruptcy Restrictions Order (BRO) – 
Restrictions placed on a debtor where their 
behaviour was inappropriate before, or 
during, their bankruptcy. A BRO is imposed by 
a sheriff and applies restrictions to a debtor’s 
credit and work activities. The sheriff will fix 
the period of the restrictions and this can be 
for between two and 15 years, after the debtor 
has been discharged from their bankruptcy. 
Details of a debtor’s BRO will be recorded in 
the public Register of Insolvencies.

Bankruptcy Restrictions Undertaking 
(BRU) – If the debtor acknowledges that 
their behaviour was inappropriate, either 
before or during their bankruptcy, they can 
agree to enter into a BRU. A BRU imposes 
the same restrictions as a BRO but does 
not require an application to a sheriff. The 
period of the BRU can be shorter than a BRO 
imposed by a sheriff. Details of a debtor’s 
BRU will be recorded in the public Register  
of Insolvencies.

Creditor – Any person, business or 
organisation which is owed money by another.

Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS) – A 
debt management tool introduced by the 
Scottish Government and accessed through 
an approved money adviser (see www.
dasscotland.gov.uk). It may help debtors who 
have one or more debts and want to pay what 
they owe by giving more time for repayments 
free from the threat of enforcement 
(diligence) or bankruptcy.

Glossary of Terms

Appendix C

DAS Debt Payment Programme (DPP) – A 
proposal that allows a debtor to pay their debt 
over an extended period of time. The DPP 
can be for any amount of money or for any 
reasonable length of time.

Debtor – Any person who owes money  
to another.

Discharge – The formal termination of a legal 
office or state, e.g. Trustees may apply to be 
formally discharged once their functions are 
completed. A debtor is also discharged from 
bankruptcy, usually one year after the date of 
their sequestration. 

Dividend – The distribution of funds to 
creditors in a sequestration. Also, the 
proportion of the debt repaid to a creditor in a 
sequestration; expressed as x pence in the £.

Edinburgh Gazette – An official newsletter 
published twice weekly for the government by 
the Stationery Office in which various official 
announcements are recorded. Previously, 
notifications of sequestration awards required 
to be published in the Edinburgh Gazette 
however, this requirement ended on 
15 November 2010. Details of all bankruptcies 
and protected trust deeds are published in 
the Register of Insolvencies.

http://www.dasscotland.gov.uk
http://www.dasscotland.gov.uk
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Executive agency – A discrete unit set 
up to undertake an executive function of 
government.

Framework document – A document setting 
out the key principles of accountability for 
executive agencies.

International Association of Insolvency 
Regulators (IAIR) – An association 
established in 1995 and currently chaired 
by The Accountant in Bankruptcy/Agency         
Chief Executive. It promotes knowledge 
sharing and collaboration in relation to 
strategic issues faced by the jurisdictions of 
its respective members.

Low Income Low Asset (LILA) – LILA is the 
route into bankruptcy introduced to provide 
debt relief to debtors who cannot afford to pay 
their debts and have low income and limited 
assets. Many debtors find that their creditors 
are unwilling to take the legal action required 
to bring about their bankruptcy because of 
the administrative and legal costs incurred, 
often without the creditor receiving any 
dividend at the end. 

Money adviser – Somebody trained to offer 
advice on debt, usually a local authority 
money advice unit or Citizens Advice Bureau.

Petition – The legal term for a particular type 
of application to the court. 

Protected Trust Deed (PTD) – A trust deed 
is a form of insolvency that transfers a 
debtor’s estate to a trustee to be realised for 
the benefit of creditors. A trust deed may be 
protected as long as a majority in number or 
a third in value of creditors do not object to its 
terms. Once protected, the terms of the trust 
deed becoming binding on all the creditors.

Register of Insolvencies (ROI) – A public 
register that records details of all 
sequestrations awarded in Scotland. It also 
contains details of protected trust deeds, 
details of companies in receivership or 
liquidation since 1 July 1999 and details of 
BROS/BRUs.

Sequestration – The Scottish legal term for 
the formal process of bankruptcy.

Trustee – A person who administers a 
sequestration or a trust deed. In 
sequestrations a trustee can be either the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy or a private 
insolvency practitioner (normally a chartered 
accountant who specialises in personal 
bankruptcy). In trust deeds, trustees must      
be an insolvency practitioner.

Trust deed – A voluntary form of insolvency 
and an alternative to sequestration 
(bankruptcy). All or part of a debtor’s estate 
can be transferred to a trustee to realise for 
the benefit of creditors. A trust deed may in 
certain circumstances become protected. 
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Accountant in Bankruptcy

Direction by the Scottish Ministers

In accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000

1.  The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 and subsequent 
years shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the 
edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) which is in force for the 
year for which the statement of accounts are prepared.

2.  The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the income and 
expenditure, recognised gains and losses, and cash flows for the financial year, and of 
the state of affairs as at the end of the financial year.

3.  This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts. The 
direction given on 28 March 2003 is hereby revoked. 

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers

Dated 17 January 2006

Direction by the Scottish Ministers

Appendix D
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How to contact us

Accountant in Bankruptcy
1 Pennyburn Road
Kilwinning
Ayrshire
KA13 6SA

LP-4 KILWINNING

DX 552090 KILWINNING 2

Telephone 0300 200 2600
Fax  0300 200 2601

Website: www.aib.gov.uk for advice on  
the administration of the sequestration  
process in Scotland

SG/2014/108

http://www.aib.gov.uk
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